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SHARE REGISTRAR

Digital Custodian Company Limited

4F, Pardesi House, Old Queens Road, Karachi.

Tell: 021-32419770

MANUFACTURING PLANT

Plot No. 13-24, Zone B,
Hattar Special Economic Zone,
Distt. Haripur.
Tel: 0311-4899149

REGISTERED/CORPORATE OFFICE
10-N, Model Town Ext, Lahore.

UAN: 111 GHANI 1 (442-641)

Fax: (092) 042-35160393

E-mail: info.gcwl@ghaniglobal.com

Website: www.ghaniglobal.com/ghanichemworld

REGIONAL MARKETING OFFICE

C-7/A, Block F, Gulshan-e-Jamal

Rashid Minhas Road, Karachi.

Ph: 021-34572150

HR&R AND COMPENSATION 

COMMITTEE 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

BOARD COMMITTEES

COMPANY SECRETARY

Farzand Ali

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Asim Mahmud

NOMINATION COMMITTEE 

Masroor Ahmad Khan, Chairman-
Atique Ahmad Khan, Chief Executive Ofcer-
Haz Farooq Ahmad-
Rabia Atique -
Saira Farooq-
Mehmood Ahmad-
Haz Imran Lateef-

Mehmood Ahmad, Chairman-
Haz Farooq Ahmad-
Rabia Atique-

Haz Imran Lateef, Chairman-
Saira Farooq-
Atique Ahmad Khan-
Haz Farooq Ahmad-

Atique Ahmad Khan, Chairman-
-

Mehmood Ahmad-

EXTERNAL AUDITORS 

Ilyas Saeed & Co., Chartered Accountants

BANKERS

Albaraka Bank Pakistan Limited-
Soneri Bank Limited-
The Bank of Punjab-
The Bank of Khyber-

AUDIT & RISK MANAGEMENT 

COMMITTEE 

Haz Farooq Ahmad

LEGAL ADVISOR 

Asif Saeed, Advocate



Ghani ChemWorld is committed to quality, service, value and honesty with 

dedication to provide the very best products and to serve the national community at 

large. Our organization believes in faith, experience, innovation and growth, and will 

strive to strengthen all in our employees, customers and business peers. 

We strive to achieve market leadership through technological edge, distinguished by 

quality and customer satisfaction, and emphasis on employees’ welfare and ensure 

adequate return to shareholders. We further wish to contribute to the development of 

economy and country through harmonized endeavor. 

“

“

“

“
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Ghani ChemWorld cares for the employees, customers and general public and is committed to providing a safe

 and injury free workplace.

 Complies strictly with all the SHEQ legislations and regulations,

 Involves all personnel in a system of shared responsibility for safe operation,

 Looks for continuous improvement in the workplace through the application of best safety & quality practices,

  Contributes to the permanent improvement of operational efciency and customers’ satisfaction through a

    risk management program to protect our people, assets and business viability.
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Excellence 

Customer
Satisfaction

Sharia
Compliance

Integrity

Professionalism 
SHEQ



ISO ISO ISO ISO ISO ISO 

ISOISOISO

Company Certifications
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GENDER PAY GAP 

The following is the gender pay gap calculated for the year ended June 30, 2025:

1. Mean gender pay gap:                                                             Nil

2. Median gender pay gap:                                                          Nil

3. Any other data / details as deemed relevant:                            Nil

The Company’s workforce also includes a female employee, who has equal right and pay compared to male 
employees. Accordingly, the provision for calculating the gender pay gap is not applicable.
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NOTICE OF THE FIRST ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Notice is hereby given that the 1st Annual General Meeting (AGM) of Ghani ChemWorld Limited (the Company/GCWL) will be 
held on Tuesday, 28 October 2025, at 11:30 AM, at the registered ofce of the Company, 10-N, Model Town Ext., Lahore, to 
transact the following business:-

To receive, consider, and adopt the Annual Audited Accounts of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2025, together with 
Directors' and Auditors ' Reports thereon.

1.       

To appoint auditors of the company for the year ending 30 June 2026 and to x their remuneration. The retiring auditors, M/s 
Ilyas Saeed & Co., Chartered Accountants, being eligible, have offered themselves for reappointment.

2.       

To elect seven (07) directors for a period of three years commencing from 31 October 2025, as xed by the board under 
the provisions of the Companies Act, 2017.

3.       

The names of retiring directors are listed below:

Any other business with permission of the Chair.4.       
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SPECIAL BUSINESS

ORDINARY BUSINESS

1.       

3.       

5.       

7.       

Haz Farooq Ahmad

Mrs. Saira Farooq

Haz Imran Lateef

2.       

4.       

6.       

Mrs. Rabia Atique

Mr. Mahmood Ahmed

Mr. Masroor Ahmad Khan Mr. Atique Ahmad Khan

5.       To consider and approve the transmission of the “Annual Audited Financial Statements” and the notices of general 
meetings, etc., to the Company's shareholders via QR code and weblink, as well as the placement of Quarterly 
Accounts of the Company on its website, instead of sending these by post to the members, by passing the 
resolution as ordinary resolutions proposed in the Statement under section 134(3) of the Companies Act 2017 
annexed to the notice of AGM.

6.       To consider, and if deemed t for investment, up to Rs. 500 million in Ghani Global Holdings Limited (GGL/holding 
company) in the form of loans and advances, by passing the special resolution with or without modications under 
section 199 of the Companies Act, 2017, as annexed with a statement under section 134(3) of the Companies Act, 
2017.

7.       To consider and if deemed t for investment up to Rs. 500 million in Ghani Global Glass Limited (GGL/associated 
company) in shape of loans and advances, by passing the special resolution with or without modications under 
section 199 of the Companies Act, 2017, as annexed with statement under section 134(3) of the Companies Act, 
2017.

8. To consider, and if deemed t for investment, up to Rs. 500 million in Ghani Chemical Industries Limited 
(GCIL/associated company) in the form of loans and advances, by passing the special resolution with or without 
modications under section 199 of the Companies Act, 2017, as annexed with a statement under section 134(3) of 
the Companies Act, 2017.
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Notes:

1.       BOOK CLOSURE

The share transfer books of the Company will remain closed, and no transfers of shares will be accepted for 
registration from Tuesday, 21 October 2025, to Tuesday, 28 October 2025 (both days inclusive). Transfer received 
in order at the ofce of the share registrar

9.       To approve the Employees Stock Option Scheme (ESOS) by passing the special resolution proposed in the 
Statement under section 134(3) of the Companies Act 2017 attached to the notice of AGM.

10. To approve the alteration and/or addition to the Articles of Association of the Company by passing the special 
resolution proposed in the Statement under section 134(3) of the Companies Act 2017.

Place:  Lahore  
Dated: October 06, 2025

                                                                                      By order of the Board

                                                                                                      FARZAND ALI

Company Secretary

M/S DIGITAL CUSTODIAN COMPANY LIMITED
4-F, PERDESI HOUSE, OLD QUEEN'S ROAD, KARACHI, PAKISTAN

PHONE: +92 21 32419770, EMAIL: share.registrar@digitalcustodian.co

at the close of business on Monday, October 20, 2025, will be considered in time for attendance at the AGM.

2.       ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Anyone wishing to contest the election, whether they are a retiring director or not, must send their nomination along 
with all required documents (under the Companies Act, 2017, and Listed Companies (Code of Corporate 
Governance) Regulation, 2019) for the election, duly signed by the member or members submitting the 
nomination or their duly authorized representative, to the Company's registered ofce at 10-N, Model Town 
Extension, Lahore. These submissions must be received not less than fourteen (14) clear days before the date of 
the meeting.

3.       ATTENDANCE AT THE MEETING

A member entitled to attend, speak, and vote at the AGM is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend, speak, and vote on 
their behalf.

Proxies, to be effective, must be properly signed, completed, witnessed, and submitted at the registered ofce of 
the Company along with attested copies of a valid Computerized National Identity Card (CNIC) or passport, at least 
48 hours prior to the meeting.

CDC account holders must follow the guidelines outlined in Circular No. 1 dated 26 January 2000 issued by the 
SECP for attending the meeting.
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Attendance at the meeting shall be upon presentation of the original CNIC or passport.

The Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP) has advised, via circular No 4 of 2021 dated 15 February 
2021, to facilitate the participation of members through electronic means. Members can attend the AGM via Video Link. 
To participate in the meeting via Video Link, members and their proxies are requested to register by providing the 
following information via email at agmgcwl25@ghaniglobal.com by 21 October 2025.

Full Name Folio/CDC No. Company

Name

CNIC Number
Registered

Email
Address

Cell Number

Video link details and login credentials will be shared with those members whose registered emails containing all the 
particulars are received on or before Tuesday, 21 October 2025.

Shareholders can also submit their comments and questions regarding the AGM agenda items via the email address 
agmgcwl25@ghaniglobal.com. 

4.       CONVERSION OF PHYSICAL SHARES INTO THE BOOK ENTRY FORM

The SECP, through its letter No. CSD/ED/Misc/2016- 639-640 dated 26 March 2016, has advised listed companies 
to comply with the provisions of Section 72 of the Companies Act, 2017, by converting physical shares issued by 
them into a book entry form.

Members holding physical folios or share certicates are advised to convert their shares into book-entry form at their 
earliest convenience. For further details and assistance, members may contact the Share Registrar of the Company, 
i.e., M/s. Digital Custodian Company Limited.

5.       AVAILABILITY OF AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ON COMPANY'S WEBSITE:

The audited nancial statements of the Company for the year ending 30 June 2025 are available on the Company's 
website www.ghaniglobal.com/chemworld.

Notwithstanding the above, the Company shall supply hard copies of the audited nancial statements to any member 
upon request, sent to their registered address, free of charge, within one (1) week of receipt of such request.

6.       POSTAL BALLOT / E-VOTING

In accordance with the Companies (Postal Ballot) Resolutions, 2018 (“the Regulations”), the members of the 
Company have the right to vote via electronic voting and/or postal voting, on the Election of Directors and Special 
Businesses at the upcoming AGM, subject to the requirements and conditions set out in the stated  Regulations.

The Board of Directors of the Company has appointed M/s. Digital Custodian Company Limited, as the Service 
Provider and M/s. Nasir Jamil & Co. Chartered Accountants, as Scrutinizer for the e-voting process under the 
Companies (Postal Ballot) Regulations, 2018 (the Regulations), to vote via electronic voting and postal voting for 
agenda items No. 3,5,6,7 and 8 of the meeting. Both the above (Service Provider & Scrutinizer) full all the eligibility 
criteria as laid down by the Regulations and have the necessary knowledge and experience.
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The Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan, through its S.R.O. No. 389(I)/2023, dated 21st March 2023, has 
authorized listed companies to distribute their “Annual Audited Financial Statements” to members via QR-enabled 
codes and a web link, subject to approval by the company's shareholders. Additionally, the Securities and Exchange 
Commission of Pakistan, through its Circular No. 19 of 2004, has permitted listed companies to publish their Quarterly 
Accounts on their websites instead of sending them by post to their shareholders.

Agenda Item No. 5. 

To adopt the technological advancement and minimize printing and distribution costs, approval from members is being 
sought in compliance with the requirements of the above-stated SRO and the Circular, by passing the following 
resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions, with or without modications:

“RESOLVED that, as permitted by the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan vide its notication S.R.O. 
389(I)2023 dated 21st March 2023, approval is hereby granted to circulate the present (June 30, 2025) and all future 
annual audited nancial statements of the Company (Ghani ChemWorld Limited) to the members through QR code 
and weblink.” 

“FURTHER RESOLVED THAT, as permitted by the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan through its 
Circular No. 19 of 2004, approval is hereby granted for the distribution of all quarterly accounts of the Company 
(Ghani ChemWorld Limited) to the members via the Company's website, instead of by post.”

The Board of Directors of Ghani ChemWorld Limited has proposed an investment of Rs. 500 million in the form of loans 
and advances to Ghani Global Holdings Limited, being the holding company. The purpose of this investment is to 
generate prot from the company's funds. The following resolutions are proposed to be passed as Special Resolutions, 
with or without modications, to seek the approval of the shareholders of the Company under section 199 of the 
Companies Act, 2017:

Agenda Item No. 6. 

“RESOLVED THAT, in accordance with the requirements of section 199 of the Companies Act, 2017, Ghani 
ChemWorld Limited (GCWL/the Company) is hereby authorized to make investments up to PKR 500 million (Rupees 
ve hundred million only) in Ghani Global Holdings Limited (GGL), the holding company, through advances and 
loans, as and when required by GGL, provided that the return on such advances and loans shall not be less than a rate 
of 3 months KIBOR + 1.10 bps, and that such advances and loans shall be repayable within a period of three (3) 
years starting from the date of payment, subject to the other terms and conditions specied in the statement under 
Section 134(3) of the Companies Act, 2017.”

“FURTHER RESOLVED THAT the resolutions as mentioned above shall be valid for a period of three years from the 
date of approval by the shareholders, and that the Chief Executive Ofcer and/or Company Secretary of the Company 
are hereby singly authorized to undertake the decision of the said investment as and when required. They are also 
empowered to take all necessary, incidental, and ancillary steps and actions, including executing any documents and 
agreements that may be necessary in this regard, and to perform all acts, matters, deeds, and things as may be 
necessary or expedient for implementing the resolutions mentioned above.”

The Board of Directors of Ghani ChemWorld Limited has proposed an investment of Rs. 500 million in the form of loans 
and advances in Ghani Global Glass Limited, an associated undertaking of the Company. The purpose of this 
investment is to generate prot from the company's funds. The following resolutions are proposed to be passed as 
Special Resolutions, with or without modications, to seek the approval of the shareholders of the Company under 
section 199 of the Companies Act, 2017:

Agenda Item No. 7. 

STATEMENT OF MATERIAL FACT UNDER SECTION 134(3) OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2017

The statement summarizes the material facts relating to the special business items to be transacted at the Company's 
Annual General Meeting scheduled for Tuesday, 28 October 2025.
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“RESOLVED THAT, pursuant to the requirements of section 199 of the Companies Act, 2017, Ghani ChemWorld 
Limited (GCWL/the Company) be and is hereby authorized to make investments up to PKR 500 million (Rupees ve 
hundred million only) in Ghani Global Glass Limited (GGGL), an associated company, by way of advances and 
loans, as and when required by GGGL, provided that the return on such advances and loans shall not be less than the 
rate of 3 months KIBOR + 1.10 basis points and that such advances and loans shall be repayable within a period of 
three (3) years from the date of payment, subject to other terms and conditions mentioned in the statement under 
Section 134(3) of the Companies Act, 2017.”

“FURTHER RESOLVED THAT the above resolutions shall be valid for a period of three years starting from the date of 
approval by the shareholders, and the Chief Executive Ofcer and/or the Company Secretary of the Company are 
hereby singly empowered to undertake the decision of the said investment as and when required, and to take all 
necessary, incidental, and ancillary steps and actions, including executing any documents and agreements that 
may be required. They are also authorized to do all acts, matters, deeds, and things that may be necessary or 
expedient for implementing the aforesaid resolutions.”

The Board of Directors of Ghani ChemWorld Limited has proposed the investment of Rs. 500 million in the shape of 
loans and advances in Ghani Chemical Industries Limited, being an associated undertaking of the Company. The 
purpose of investment is to earn prot on company's funds. The following resolutions are proposed to be passed as 
Special Resolutions, with or without modications, to seek the approval of the shareholders of the Company under 
section 199 of the Companies Act, 2017:

Agenda Item No. 8. 

“RESOLVED THAT, in accordance with the requirements of section 199 of the Companies Act, 2017, Ghani 
ChemWorld Limited (GCWL/the Company) is hereby authorized to make investments of up to PKR 500 million 
(Rupees ve hundred million only) in Ghani Chemical Industries Limited (GCIL), an associated company, through 
advances and loans, as and when required by GCIL, provided that the return on such advances and loans shall not 
be less than the rate of 3 months KIBOR + 1.10 bps and that such advances and loans shall be repayable within a 
period of three (3) years from the date of payment, subject to the other terms and conditions specied in the 
statement under Section 134(3) of the Companies Act, 2017.”

“FURTHER RESOLVED THAT the above resolutions shall be valid for a period of three years starting from the date of 
approval by the shareholders, and the Chief Executive Ofcer and/or the Company Secretary of the Company are 
hereby singly empowered to undertake the decision of the said investment as and when required, and to take all 
necessary, incidental, and ancillary steps and actions, including executing any documents and agreements that 
may be required. They are also authorized to do all acts, matters, deeds, and things that may be necessary or 
expedient for implementing the aforesaid resolutions.”

Management of the Company intends to initiate Employees Stock Option Scheme to its Eligible Employees in pursuant 
to the Sections 83A of the Companies Act, 2017 and Chapter VI – Employee Stock Option Scheme under the 
Companies (Further Issue of Shares) Regulations, 2020. 

Agenda Item No. 9. 

The core objective of the scheme is to provide incentives to the key employees of the Company for retention purposes. 
Furthermore, it will give them a sense of ownership in the Company, which will lead to improved performance in the 
growth of their own Company and provide them with rewards for their services.
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“RESOLVED THAT approval be and is here accorded to approve the  EMPLOYEES STOCK OPTION SCHEME, 2025 
(ESOS) of the Company (Ghani ChemWorld Limited) under Section 83A of the Companies Act, 2017 and the 
Companies (Further Issue of Shares) Regulations, 2020, as per annexure ‘A’.

“FURTHER RESOLVED THAT each of the Chief Executive, the Chief Financial Ofcer, and the Company Secretary of 
the Company, acting singly, be and is hereby authorized to take all necessary steps including making amendments, 
if required and execute all necessary documents towards fulllment of all legal and corporate requirements involved, 
and to le all requisite documents with the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan, as may be necessary 
or expedient for the purpose of fully giving effect to and implementing the letter, spirit and intent of the foregoing 
resolutions.”

The following resolutions are proposed to be passed as Special Resolution, with or without modications, additions or 
deletions to approve Employees Stock Option Scheme:

The Company intends to amend its Articles of Association to make it in line with the requirement of Companies Act, 
2017, the Companies (Further Issue of Shares) Regulations, 2020 and the Issuance of Convertible Debt Securities 
through Right Offer Regulations, 2022 that enables/empowers the Board of Directors to take certain corporate actions 
if provided in the Articles of Association that includes:

Agenda Item No. 10. 

     a. Employees Stock Option Scheme;
     b. Power to Issue Shares with different Rights and Privileges;
     c. Terms and Conditions of the Issuance of partially redeemable shares;
     d. Power to Issue Redeemable Capital;
     e. Dividend and Bonus;

The Company shall have the power to make Employees' Stock Options and to provide share option(s) to its 
eligible employees, directors and other ofcers either of the Company and/or subsidiaries of the Company in 
accordance with the laws of Pakistan for the time being.

1.  Addition of Articles 6(b):
     6(b)   Employee Stock Option

2.  Addition of Articles 11(a):

     11(a)  Power to Issue Shares with Different Rights and Privileges

Subject to the Applicable Law and, in particular, Section 58 of the Companies Act, 2017 and the Companies 
(Further Issue of Shares) Regulations, 2020, any Share in the Company may, subject to applicable law, be 
issued with different rights, restrictions and privileges on terms and conditions as may be deemed appropriate 
by the Board of Directors of the Company.

“RESOLVED THAT approval be and is here accorded to amend its Articles of Association to make it in line with the 
requirement of Companies Act, 2017, the Companies (Further Issue of Shares) Regulations, 2020 and the Issuance 
of Convertible Debt Securities through Right Offer Regulations, 2022 that enables/empowers the Board of Directors 
to take certain corporate actions if provided in the Articles of Association, as under:

The following resolutions are proposed to the shareholders for approval with or without modications.



14 Annual Report 2025Ghani ChemWorld Limited

The Board of Directors of the Company is authorised and empowered to determine the terms and conditions of 
the issue of shares with varying rights and privileges, and no further approval is required from the shareholders. 

Issuance of shares shall at all times be under the control of the Board of Directors who may issue, allot, forfeit, 
surrender, rectify or otherwise dispose of the same to such persons (including existing shareholders), rms, 
corporation or corporations on such terms and conditions and at any such time as may, subject to applicable 
law, be thought t, subject to and in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2017 and the 
Securities Act, 2015 and the Companies (Further Issue of Shares) Regulations, 2020.

The Company shall have the power to make Employees' Stock Options and to provide share option(s) to its 
eligible employees, directors and other ofcers either of the Company and/or subsidiaries of the Company in 
accordance with the laws of Pakistan for the time being.

3.  Addition of Articles 11(b):
     11(b)   Terms and conditions of the issuance of partially redeemable shares

Name of SecurityGhani ChemWorld Limited – Partially Redeemable Shares

Name of SecurityGhani ChemWorld Limited – Partially Redeemable Shares

1.
Security Type and 
Relevant Regulatory 
Provisions

Partially Redeemable Shares issued in accordance with:-
1-Section 58 of the Companies Act, 2017
2-The Companies (Further Issue of Shares) Regulations, 2020
3-Section 83 of the Companies Act, 2017
4-All other enabling provisions of the Securities Act, 2015, the Companies Act, 2017, 
   and applicable laws, rules and regulations

2.
Participation in 
Surplus Assets in
Case of Liquidation

No participation unless converted into Ordinary Shares upon the occurrence of a
triggering event. Upon conversion, the new Ordinary Shares (issued in accordance
with the applicable conversion ratio) shall rank pari passu with the existing Ordinary
Shares.

3.
Dividend Rate 
(PKR/share)

As may be determined by the Board of Directors from time to time. An interim 
dividend may also be paid if declared by the Board of Directors.
Dividends on PRS shall not enjoy any priority over dividends payable on Ordinary 
Shares. They shall always remain subject to compliance with the Companies Act, 
2017 and the Companies (Further Issue of Shares) Regulations, 2020.

4. Redemption Partially redeemable up to the Redeemable Portion of PKR 90 per share.

5.
Redemption Rate
(PKR/share)

Redemption of the Partially Redeemable Shares shall be by value only, out of their 
par/nominal value, without reducing the number of shares in issue. Redemption may
only be made if sufcient distributable prots, retained earnings or other permitted
reserves are available, and shall be at such times, in such amounts and on such 
terms as the Board of Directors may decide in its discretion.

For each redemption, the Company shall transfer an amount equal to the nominal 
value redeemed to a Capital Redemption Reserve (CRR) or other non-distributable 
reserve. The CRR shall not be available for dividend and shall be preserved with the 
same restrictions as apply to paid-up share capital under the Companies Act, 2017 
and the Companies (Further Issue of Shares) Regulations, 2020.

6.
Conversion into 
Ordinary shares

Conversion into Ordinary Shares of the Company upon the occurrence of specied 
triggering events.

7. Conversion Rate

Each Partially Redeemable Share shall, upon the occurrence of a specied Triggering
Event, automatically and without any further act convert into ten (10) fully paid 
Ordinary Shares of the Company or such higher number of Ordinary Shares as may
be determined by the Board of Directors at its discretion.
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If, at the time of such conversion, the outstanding nominal value of any Partially 
Redeemable Share is less than the aggregate nominal value of the Ordinary Shares 
to be issued, the shortfall shall be met by capitalization of available reserves, 
including any Capital Redemption Reserve, share premium, or other permitted 
reserves, in accordance with the Companies Act, 2017 and the Companies 
(Further Issue of Shares) Regulations, 2020.

The conversion ratio and adjustment mechanism shall apply uniformly and without 
discrimination to all holders of Partially Redeemable Shares.

Any decision of the Board of Directors to enhance the conversion ratio beyond the 
minimum shall be nal and binding, subject always to compliance with applicable 
law and availability of sufcient reserves.

8. Call Option Cash Not applicable.

9. Put Option (Cash) Not applicable.

10.
Par/Nominal Value 
(PKR/share)

PKR 100, divided into: Redeemable Portion of PKR 90 per share and Irredeemable 
Portion of PKR 10 per share.

11.
Par/Nominal Value
for Subsequent 
Issues (PKR/share)

Any subsequent issue of Partially Redeemable Shares shall be made at a par/nominal
value equal to the outstanding nominal value per share of previously issued PRS 
(i.e. the original par value of PKR 100 less any amount already redeemed).
If the Company resolves to issue PRS at a price higher than such outstanding nominal
value, the excess shall be credited to Share Premium Account, to be maintained in 
accordance with the Companies Act, 2017 and the Companies (Further Issue of 
Shares) Regulations, 2020.
All subsequent issues shall be made on a uniform and non-discriminatory basis
among shareholders of the same class, as required by law.

12. Issuance By Way Of
The right issue to existing shareholders.
May also be issued otherwise, subject to requisite approvals.
The right issue to existing shareholders.

13. Tenor
Perpetual unless redeemed (with respect to the Redeemable Portion) and/or
converted into Ordinary Shares upon a triggering event.

14. Instrument Rating Optional, if determined by the Board of Directors.

15.
Cumulative / 
Non-Cumulative

Dividends on Partially Redeemable Shares shall be non-cumulative, and any dividend 
not declared in a given year shall lapse with no right of carry-forward.

16. Voting Rights

Each PRS shall carry voting rights equivalent to one Ordinary Share, irrespective of 
the paid-up or outstanding value.
Rights, privileges and obligations shall otherwise be the same as those applicable to
Ordinary Shareholders.

17. Subsequent Issuance By way of Right Issue, other than by Right (against cash or in-kind), or through Bonus
Issue to shareholders (both Ordinary and PRS holders).

18.
Subsequent Issuance
Price (PKR/share)

A share premium may be charged in addition to the outstanding par/nominal value, as
determined by the Board of Directors.

19. Any Other Rights

Holders of Partially Redeemable Shares shall be entitled to the following rights in 
addition to those expressly provided herein:
1 - The right to participate in rights issues declared by the Company, whether in the
      form of shares or other securities.
2 - The right to receive specie dividends, in whatever form they may be declared.
3 - No entitlement to any cash dividend declared and paid exclusively to Ordinary 
     Shareholders.
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20. Listing at PSX PRS shall be listed on the Main Board of the Pakistan Stock Exchange.

21. Shari'ah Compliance Optional, if determined by the Board of Directors.

22. Issue Size (PKR)

Up to the authorized share capital of the Company in numbers (as may be increased
from time to time) multiplied by the issue price (including any share premium), as 
decided by the Board of Directors. 
No further shareholder approval is required if the issuance is made by way of a Right, 
Bonus, or otherwise.

23. Issue Size (Nos.) Up to the authorized share capital of the Company, as decided by the Board of 
Directors.

24. Ranking / Priority Ranks in priority over all other classes of shares, but subordinate to any secured loan
(including loans secured by way of oating charge).

25. Triggering Events

1. Winding up of the Company (compulsory or voluntary).
2. Appointment of a receiver, administrator, or equivalent over any part of the 
    Company's assets.
3. The Company's inability to pay its indebtedness as it falls due.
4. Reduction of par/nominal value per share to the irredeemable portion (PKR 10).
5. Approval through special resolution by shareholders (including PRS holders) in 
    a general meeting to convert PRS into Ordinary Shares at the conversion rate.

26.
Meetings and 
Resolutions

Since voting rights are vested in PRS holders, no separate meetings or resolutions
are required. PRS holders may convene general meetings and pass resolutions in 
accordance with the Companies Act, 2017.

27. Other Issuance PRS may also be issued to Ordinary Shareholders by way of Bonus, if declared by 
the Board of Directors.

28. Issuance Power

PRS shall be under the control of the Board of Directors, who may issue, allot, forfeit, 
surrender, rectify, or otherwise dispose of them to such persons, rms, or corporations
on such terms and conditions and at such times as may be deemed t, subject to the 
Companies Act, 2017, the Securities Act, 2015, and the Companies (Further Issue of 
Shares) Regulations, 2020.

29.
Authorized Capital
(PRS)

Redemption and/or Conversion will not affect authorized capital related to PRS.

Board of Directors of the Company is authorized to raise/ issue redeemable capital of any amount as they deem 
t in terms of Section 66 of the Companies Act, 2017 including but not limited to the Issuance of Convertible Debt 
Securities through Right Offer Regulations, 2022 and the Structuring of Debt Securities Regulations, 2020 
and/or Section 87(4)(d)(i) of the Securities Act, 2015 and/or Section 83(1)(b) of the Companies Act, 2017 and 
all other enabling provisions under the Securities Act, 2015, the Companies Act, 2017 and other laws, rules and 

4.  Addition of Article 50(a):
50(a)       Power Issue Redeemable Capital

The Board of Directors of the Company is authorized and empowered to determine the terms and conditions of 
the issue of shares with varying rights and privileges. No further approval is required from the shareholders.

The redeemable capital shall always remain under the control of the Board of Directors, who may allocate, issue, 
forfeit, surrender, rectify, or otherwise dispose of it to such persons, rms, or corporations on such terms and 
conditions and at any time as may, subject to applicable law, be deemed appropriate, in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act, 2017, and all other relevant laws, rules, and regulations.
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The Company shall have the power to issue, subject to the Companies (Further Issue of Shares) Regulations, 
2020, bonus shares of any class from time to time out of any reserve(s) of any kind and the decision of the board 
to issue bonus shares, once announced, shall not be varied, postponed, withdrawn or cancelled.

5. Alteration in Article 71:
71  Dividend and Bonus

A shareholder (or shareholders) may forgo/their right to dividends before the declaration of dividends (for one or 
more years) to the Company, and in such case, dividends declared by the Company shall at all times be accrued 
to the rest of the shareholders. Shareholder(s) shall give their intention to forgo the dividend in writing for certain 

The Company shall have the power to declare the optional dividend whereby shareholder may, subject to 
applicable law, be given option to select either bonus or cash dividend or specie dividend, as the case may, 
subject to applicable law, be. The Board of Directors shall have the power to determine the bonus share price, 
dividend rate and to determine the procedures for the execution of the option.

No dividend shall be paid otherwise than out of prots of the year or undistributable prots. Bonus can be paid 
from any reserves, including capital reserves. Reserves (including capital reserves) can also be used for the 
conversion of redeemable capital or any class of share. 

“FURTHER RESOLVED THAT each of the Chief Executive, the Chief Financial Ofcer, and the Company Secretary of the 
Company, acting individually, be and is hereby authorized to take all necessary actions and execute all required 
documents to meet all legal and corporate obligations, and to le all necessary documents with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission of Pakistan, as needed or appropriate to fully give effect to and implement the letter, spirit, and 
intent of the foregoing resolutions.”

THE INFORMATION REQUIRED UNDER SRO 1240(1)/2017 DATED 06 DECEMBER 2017, REGARDING 
AGENDA ITEM NO. 6,7 AND 8 ARE AS FOLLOWS:

(a)  DISCLOSURES:

(A) Regarding the associated company or associated undertaking

Requirement
Loans and Advances  
in Ghani Global 
Holdings Limited

Loans and Advances  
in Ghani Global Glass 
Limited

Loans and Advances  
in Ghani Chemical 
Industries Limited

Name of the associated
company 

Ghani Global Holdings 
Limited (GGL).

Ghani Global Glass 
Limited (GGGL).

Ghani Chemical Industries 
Limited (GCIL).

Basis of Relationship Holding Company and 
Common Directorship.

Associated Company 
and Common 
Directorship.

Associated Company 
and Common 
Directorship.

Earnings/(Loss) per
share for the last three
years

2025:      1.26 
2024:      0.60
2023:      0.42

Breakup value per share, 
based on latest audited 
nancial statements

Financial position, 
including main items 
of balance sheet and 
prot and loss account
on the basis of its latest 
nancial statements;

Unconsolidated Audited Financial 
Statements for the period ended 
June 30, 2025 showed:

Prot & Loss:        Rupees(000)
Sales (net)              95,652           
Gross prot              1,217
Admin Expenses       6,396              
Other income        201,265
Finance Cost          12,001                          

Audited Financial Statements for 
the period ended June 30, 2025
showed:

Prot & Loss:       Rupees(000)
Sales (net)               2,931,918             
Gross prot                773,332
Admin Expenses          93,746              
Other income               95,826
Finance Cost              346,371                      

Audited Financial Statements for 
the period ended June 30, 2025
showed:

Prot & Loss:       Rupees(000)
Sales (net)           7,435,420          
Gross prot          3,412,030
Admin Expenses      282,112              
Other income           392,322
Finance Cost           453,021               

2025:      3.92 
2024:      1.58
2023:      1.06

2025:      0.426 
2024:      0.069
2023:      0.046

Rs. 11.18 as on June 30, 2025 Rs. 11.92 as on June 30, 2025 Rs. 16.6 as on June 30, 2025
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(B)General Disclosures:

Maximum amount of 
investment to be made

Rs. 500 million as long 
term loans and advances

Rs. 500 million as long 
term loans and advances

Rs. 500 million as long 
term loans and advances

Purpose, benets likely
to accrue to the 
investing company and
its members from such
investment and period
of investment;

To earn prots on Company's
 funds

To earn prots on Company's
 funds

To earn prots on Company's
 funds

Sources of funds to be
utilized for investment

Through internal sources, 
equity issue and/or other 
options are under planning.

Through internal sources, 
equity issue and/or other 
options are under planning.

Through internal sources, 
equity issue and/or other 
options are under planning.

salient features of the 
agreement(s), if any,
with associated 
company or associated 
undertaking with regards
to the proposed 
investment;   

Agreement will be executed
before extending the advances 
and loans in accordance with 
the terms and conditions, as 
approved by the shareholders. 

Agreement will be executed
before extending the advances 
and loans in accordance with 
the terms and conditions, as 
approved by the shareholders. 

Agreement will be executed
before extending the advances 
and loans in accordance with 
the terms and conditions, as 
approved by the shareholders. 

direct or indirect interest
of directors, sponsors, 
majority shareholders 
and their relatives, if any,
in the associated 
company or associated 
undertaking or the 
transaction under 
consideration;

Shareholding position of the
following directors and majority
shareholders of Ghani 
ChemWorld Limited in its 
holding Company Ghani Global
Holdings Limited (GGL) is as 
under:

Shareholding position of the
following directors and majority
shareholders of Ghani 
ChemWorld Limited in its 
associated Company Ghani 
Global Glass Limited (GGGL)
is as under:

Shareholding position of the 
following directors and majority
shareholders of Ghani 
ChemWorld Limited in its 
holding Company Ghani 
Chemical Industries Limited 
(GCIL) is as under:

Prot after 
Taxation                  151,010

Financial Position:     
Assets                 3,580,711
Current 
Assets                    440,587
              

Total Assets    4,021,298

paid up share 
capital                   3,541,197
Revenue Reserve     421,163                            
Current 
liabilities                    58,938

Equity and
Liabilities            4,021,298
                       

Prot after 
Taxation                  300,230

Financial Position:    
Non-current         
Assets                 3,120,993
Current                
Assets                 3,067,296
              
Total Assets         6,188,290

paid up share 
capital                 2,400,000  
Reserve                  459,854
Non-current
Liabilities                549,182                           
Current 
liabilities              2,779,254

Equity and
Liabilities            6,188,290
                       

Prot after 
Taxation              2,016,195

Financial Position:
Non-current 
Assets                10,059,846
Current 
Assets                  6,188,110
              
Total Assets       16,247,956

paid up share 
capital                   5,704,519
unappropriated
prot                     3,458,855 
Non-current
Liabilities               2,316,757                           
Current 
liabilities                4,727,825

Equity and
Liabilities            16,247,956
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-Mr. Masroor 
 Ahmad Khan 54,176,839 15.29

-Mr. Atique 
 Ahmad Khan 48,819,510 13.78

-Haz Farooq 
 Ahmad 51,093,082 14.42

-Mrs. Rabia 
 Atique 10,720,515 3.02

-Mrs. Saira
 Farooq 8,602,709 2.42

-Haz Imran 
 Lateef
 

– –

-Mr. Mahmood 
 Ahmad 76,652 0.02

GGL holds 139,952,994 shares in
GCWL.

-Mr. Masroor 
 Ahmad Khan 2,400 0.001

-Mr. Atique 
 Ahmad Khan

-Haz Farooq 
 Ahmad

-Mrs. Rabia 
 Atique

-Mrs. Saira
 Farooq

-Haz Imran 
 Lateef
 

– –

-Mr. Mahmood 
 Ahmad 60 0.000

GGL holds 120,235,680 shares in
GGGL. 
GGGL holds no shares in GCWL.

-Mr. Masroor 
 Ahmad Khan 1,797,832 0.31

-Mr. Atique 
 Ahmad Khan 1,797,832 0.31

-Haz Farooq 
 Ahmad 1.820,934 0.31

-Mrs. Rabia 
 Atique 1,536,727 0.26

-Mrs. Saira
 Farooq

-Haz Imran 
 Lateef
 

502 0.00

-Mr. Mahmood 
 Ahmad 221,001 0.03

GGL holds 279,905,986 shares in
GCIL. 

Names of 
Directors

Number of
 Shares

%
Names of 
Directors

Number of
 Shares

%
Names of 
Directors

Number of
 Shares

%

2,400 0.001

2,400 0.001

2,400 0.001

2,400 0.001 1,536,727 0.26

The Sponsoring directors of GGL 
hold the following shares in GCWL:

-Mr. Masroor 
 Ahmad Khan 6,716 0.003

-Mr. Atique 
 Ahmad Khan

-Mr. Umar
 Ahmad 1,650,000 0.66

-Mrs. Saira 
 Farooq 5,929 0.002

-Mr. Mahmood 
 Ahmad 100 0.00

-Syed Sibtul 
 Hassan Gilani
 

– –

-Sheikh M. 
 Saleem 
 Ahsan 7,624 0.002

Names of 
Directors

Number of
 Shares

%

6,716 0.003

The Sponsoring directors of GGGL 
hold the following shares in GCWL:

-Mr. Atique 
 Ahmad Khan 6,716 0.003

-Haz Farooq
 Ahmad

-Mr. Abdullah
 Ahmed 1,650,000 0.66

-Mrs. Saima 
 Sha Rana

-Syed Sibtul 
 Hassan Gilani

-Mr. Asim 
 Mahmud
 

– –

-Sheikh M. 
 Saleem 
 Ahsan 7,624 0.002

Names of 
Directors

Number of
 Shares

%

18,267 0.007

– –

– –

The Sponsoring directors of GCIL 
hold the following shares in GCWL:

-Mr. Masroor 
 Ahmad Khan 6,716 0.003

-Mr. Atique 
 Ahmad Khan

-Haz Farooq 
 Ahmad 0.007

-Mrs. Rabia 
 Atique

-Haz Imran 
 Lateef

-Sheikh M. 
 Saleem Ahsan

 
-Mr. Muhammad 
 Hanif 50,000 0.02

Names of 
Directors

Number of
 Shares

%

6,716 0.003

18,267

6,164 0.002

251 0.000

7,624 0.002

In case any investment
in associated company 
or associated 
undertaking has 
already been made, the
performance review of
such investment 
including complete 
information/justication 
for any impairment or 
write offs

NIL NIL NIL

NIL NIL NILIn case of Equity
Investment

NIL NIL NILIn case of Investment 
in form of Guarantee
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(C) In case of Investment in form of Loans and Advances:

Category wise amount
of investments.

Rs. 500 million as long 
term loans and advances

Rs. 500 million as long 
term loans and advances

Rs. 500 million as long 
term loans and advances

Average borrowing cost
of the investing company 3 months KIBOR + 1.10bps 3 months KIBOR + 1.10bps 3 months KIBOR + 1.10bps

Rate of interest, markup, 
prot, fees or commission
etc. to be charged

3 months KIBOR + 1.10bps
but not less than annual 
average borrowing cost

3 months KIBOR + 1.10bps
but not less than annual 
average borrowing cost

3 months KIBOR + 1.10bps
but not less than annual 
average borrowing cost

Particulars of collateral 
security to be obtained
in relation to the proposed 
investment.

NIL NIL NIL

If the investment carry 
conversion features: NIL NIL NIL

Repayment schedule and 
terms & conditions of
loans or advances to be 
given to the associated 
company or associated 
undertaking.

Repayment of loan will be within
three years from the date of 
payment with payment of prot 
on quarterly basis.

Any other term or conditions 
approved by shareholders of 
the company.

Repayment of loan will be within
three years from the date of 
payment with payment of prot 
on quarterly basis.

Any other term or conditions 
approved by shareholders of 
the company.

Repayment of loan will be within
three years from the date of 
payment with payment of prot 
on quarterly basis.

Any other term or conditions 
approved by shareholders of 
the company.

In pursuance to Regulation No. 3 (3) of the Companies (Investment in Associated Companies or Associated 
Undertakings) Regulations, 2017 under SRO 1240(1)/2017 dated 6 December 2017, the directors of the Company 
have carried out due diligence for the proposed investment in its holding/associated companies i.e. Ghani Global 
Holdings Limited, Ghani Global Glass Limited and Ghani Chemical Industries Limited, before recommending it for 
member's approval.

The following documents shall be available to the members of the Company for inspection in the AGM to be held on 
Tuesday October 28, 2025:

- Recommendations of the due diligence report of the investing company.
- Financial statements for the period ended June 30, 2025.

Note: 
The directors of the Company (Ghani ChemWorld Limited) have no interest in the above-mentioned Special Businesses 
except to the extent that those executive directors, including the chief executive ofcer, who may be entitled to ESOS 
whenever an option as an eligible employee is exercised.
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CATEGORIES OF SHARE HOLDERS

as at June 30, 2025
No. of Share 

Holders
Shares HeldCategories of Shareholders Percentage

         

Directors, Chief Executive Ofcer, and their spouse

and minor children

Associatied Companies

Financial Institutions

Insurance Companies

Modaraba Companies

Mutual Funds

Investment Companies

Joint Stock Companies

Others

Individuals

Executives

8 

1 

6 

3 

4 

1 

5 

31 

3 

1 

6,093 

1,446,242

371,817,473

13,157

73,098

18,051

7,288

153,705

8,646

96,564,306

19,471,389

100,650

0.289

74.336

0.003

0.015

0.004

0.001

0.031

0.002

19.306

3.893

0.020

Shareholders holding 10% or more 1  139,952,994 55.949

Total                      6,156 250,143,950 100
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CHAIRMAN'S REVIEW

Lahore

Dated: October 04, 2025

Masroor Ahmad Khan

Chairman, Board of Directors 

I am pleased to present the Review Report to the shareholders on the Board's overall performance and effectiveness in 
achieving the Company's objectives.

Review of Overall Performance and Effectiveness of the Board

The Board has diligently fullled its roles and responsibilities, making signicant contributions to the Company's 
strategic leadership. It has conducted regular reviews of the Company's nancial statements and governance matters, 
including the transparency of disclosures, policies, corporate plans, budgets, and compliance with regulatory 
requirements.

In addition to reviewing strategic and critical business matters, the Board has specically assessed the risks posed by 
change in macroeconomic factors and supply chain disruptions to the Company. Appropriate safeguards have been 
taken to minimize the impacts of these adverse factors on the Company.

The composition of the Board of Directors reects a mix of varied backgrounds to provide quality strategic direction to 
the management. The Board has also formed subcommittees, including the Human Resource & Remuneration 
Committee, the Audit and Risk Management Committee. These sub-committees are operating effectively within the 
framework of law.

The Board has approved a risk management framework with a vision to implement a robust system of internal controls 
and provide an effective control environment for compliance with the best practices of Corporate Governance. The 
Board has also stressed on high standards of honesty and integrity as pivotal factors for success of the business and 
Company.

As required by Listed Companies (Code of Corporate Governance Regulations) 2019, annual evaluations of the Board 
of Directors and its subcommittees have been carried out. This evaluation aims to ensure that Board has the skills 
required to provide strategic leadership to the Company. Improvement areas, if any, identied as part of the evaluation 
process are addressed accordingly. Based on the latest feedback received, the evaluation and performance of the 
Board is considered satisfactory.

Acknowledgement

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to acknowledge valuable contributions of directors who have 
completed their term and warmly welcome our new directors who bring in diverse expertise of governance, strategy 
and business acumen. I extend my special gratitude to all shareholders for their continued trust and support. I 
acknowledge with thanks our employees' dedication and hard work at all levels and look forward to their continued 
support. I would also like to appreciate the commendable efforts and commitment of our Board Members and CEO in 
providing strategic leadership to the Company.
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Name of Company:  Ghani ChemWorld Limited    
Year ended:  June 30, 2025 

The Company has complied with the requirements of the Regulations in the following manner:- -  
 
1. The total number of directors are seven (7) as per the following,-  

 
a. Male: 5  
b. Female:  2 

 
2. The composition of the Board is as follows:-  

 
i. Independent directors:  Sheikh Muhammad Saleem Ahsan 
     Haz Imran Lateef 
     
ii. Non-Executive directors:  Mr. Masroor Ahmad Khan  
     
     Ms. Rabia Atique  

     
iii. Executive directors:          Mr. Atique Ahmad Khan 
 
iv. Female director:    Ms. Rabia Atique 

 
3. 

 
 

Statement of Compliance with Listed Companies (Code of Corporate

Governance) Regulations, 2019 
 

 Haz Farooq Ahmad

Mrs. Saira Farooq

Mrs. Saira Farooq

For a Board comprising of seven members, one-third equates to 2.33. The independent directors meet the 
criteria of independence as laid down under the Code. The Board has xed the number of independent 
directors at two considering the required skills set and experience. However, fractional contained in one-
third number (i.e., 0.33) is not rounded up as one (1), being less than 0.5. 

Following two (02) casual vacancies occurred during the nancial year 2024-25. The process of lling up 
the casual vacancies was completed within the stipulated time period as per the Act. The details are 
provided as under:-

Sr. 
#

Name of resigning
Director

Date of 
resignation  

1 Mr. Umar Ahmad 

2 Mr. Abdullah Ahmed

Category

Non-
Executive

Non-
Executive

24-02-2025

24-02-2025

Mr. Mahmood
Ahmad

Haz Imran Lateef

Date of 
appointment 

25-02-2025

25-02-2025

Name of new Director
appointed

Independent

Independent

Category

The directors have conrmed that none of them is serving as a director on more than seven (7) listed
companies, including this company; 
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12. The Board has formed committees comprising of members given below.-  

 
a) Audit & Risk Management Committee:  

Sr. No.  Name Status 

1.  Mr. Mahmood Ahmad  Chairman 

2.  Haz Farooq Ahmad  Member 

3.  Mrs. Rabia Atique Member 
 

b) Human Resources & Remuneration and Compensation Committee: 
 

Sr. No.  Name Status 

1.  Haz Imran Lateef Chairman 

2.  Mr. Atique Ahmad Khan  Member 

3.  Haz Farooq Ahmad Member 

4.  Mrs. Saira Farooq  Member 

4. The company has prepared a code of conduct and has ensured that appropriate steps have been taken 
to disseminate it throughout the company along with its supporting policies and procedures;

 
5. The Board has developed a vision/mission statement, overall corporate strategy and signicant 

policies of the company. The Board has ensured that complete record of particulars of the signicant 
policies along with their date of approval or updating is maintained by the company; 

6. All the powers of the Board have been duly exercised and decisions on relevant matters have been 
taken by the Board/ shareholders as empowered by the relevant provisions of the Act and these 
Regulations; 

 
7. The meetings of the Board were presided over by the Chairman and, in his absence, by a director 

elected by the Board for this purpose. The Board has complied with the requirements of Act and the 
Regulations with respect to frequency, recording and circulating minutes of meeting of the Board; 

 
8. The Board have a formal policy and transparent procedures for remuneration of directors in 

accordance with the Act and these Regulations; 
 
9. At present, the Board is in compliance with the requirements of the time frame related to directors' 

training program as stipulated in the Regulations. 
 
10. The Board has approved appointment of Chief Financial Ofcer, Company Secretary and Head of 

Internal Audit, including their remuneration and terms and conditions of employment and complied 
with relevant requirements of the Regulations; 

 
11. The Chief Financial Ofcer and Chief Executive Ofcer duly endorsed the nancial statements before 

approval of the Board; 
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________________________ 

Chief Executive Ofcer 

 

______________________ 
(ATIQUE AHMAD KHAN) 

Director 

 

Lahore. 
04-10-2025 

 

13. The terms of reference of the aforesaid committees have been formed, documented and advised to
the committee for compliance; 

 

 
14. The frequency of meetings of the Committees were as per following:- 

a)  Audit & Risk Management Committee - one in last Quarter**  
b)  HR&R and Compensation Committee - Annually

 
15. The Board has set up an effective internal audit function/ or has outsourced the internal audit function 

to who are considered suitably qualied and experienced for the purpose and are conversant with the 
policies and procedures of the company; 

 

16. The statutory auditors of the company have conrmed that they have been given a satisfactory rating 
under the Quality Control Review program of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan and 
registered with Audit Oversight Board of Pakistan, that they and all their partners are in compliance 
with International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) guidelines on code of ethics as adopted by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan and that they and the partners of the rm involved in the 
audit are not a close relative (spouse, parent, dependent and non-dependent children) of the chief 
executive ofcer, chief nancial ofcer, head of internal audit, company secretary or director of the 
company; 

 

17. The statutory auditors or the persons associated with them have not been appointed to provide other 
services except in accordance with the Act, these Regulations or any other regulatory requirements 
and the auditors have conrmed that they have observed IFAC guidelines in this regard; 

 

18. We conrm that all requirements of regulations 3, 6, 7, 8, 27, 32, 33 and 36 of the Regulations have 
been complied with. 

(HAFIZ FAROOQ AHMAD)
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 **The Company was listed on PSX in last Quarter of the year. Hence, only one meeting of the Audit 
Committee was held in the last quarter.



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
Dear Shareholders:

Assalam-o-Alaikum Wa RehmatUllah Wa Barakatoh 

OVERVIEW OF THE NATIONAL ECONOMY

Pakistan's economy started to stabilise in the rst half of FY 2025. Economic growth stayed modest at around 1.5% 
during this period, with forecasts for the whole year between 2.6% and 2.7%. Ination, which had been very high at 
28%, fell notably to between 4% and 7%, and in April dropped to as low as 0.3%. The current account also improved, 
showing a small surplus, helped by a 32% rise in remittances and a stronger export performance, although imports 
still outpace exports.

The directors of Ghani ChemWorld Limited (the Company/GCWL) are pleased to present the audited nancial 
statements of the company for the year ended 30 June 2025, in accordance with the requirements of the Companies 
Act 2017. 

The government successfully managed to spend more efciently, lowering the overall budget decit and boosting the 
primary surplus. To stimulate economic activity, the central bank reduced interest rates from over 20% to around 11%. 
Despite these positive steps, growth remains below the ofcial target of 3.6%.

The manufacturing sector showed signs of recovery, contributing to an overall industrial growth of 4.77%. Small-
scale manufacturing performed well, helping to offset the decline in large-scale manufacturing (LSM). Notably, 12 out 
of 22 sectors recorded growth, including automobiles, textiles, pharmaceuticals, and petroleum products.

However, despite ood damage, the Government's measures to promote investment, along with reforms to support 
private sector-led growth, reduce ination, and maintain an accommodative monetary policy, are expected to 
strengthen business condence further. A supportive global environment, rising demand from trading partners, and 
Pakistan's recent trade agreement with the U.S. are likely to boost exports. At the same time, workers' remittances will 
help offset trade decit pressures caused by tariff rationalisation-driven imports.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal line of business of the Company is to manufacture, sell, distribute, import, export, or otherwise deal 
with import-substitute chemical and allied products.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 

Your Company was incorporated under the Companies Act, 2017, as a Public Limited Company on July 31, 2024 
(initially a wholly owned subsidiary of Ghani Chemical Industries Limited (GCIL). In compliance with the 
Demerger/Merger Scheme sanctioned by the Honourable Lahore High Court, vide its order dated February 20, 2025, 
in C.O. No. 65259 of 2024, the entire business and the undertaking of Calcium Carbide Project (being established in 
Hattar Special Economic Zone by the GCIL), including all assets, liabilities and properties, have been transferred from 
GCIL to your Company. After completion of relevant formalities and allotment of 250,093,950 ordinary shares of the 
Company (GCWL) to the shareholders of GCIL, your Company has been listed at the Pakistan Stock Exchange on April 
24, 2025.
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During the review period, your Company had no sales or trading activity. However, the company incurred Rs. 12.919 
million in administrative and general expenses. The Company recognised Rs. 88.304 million as its share of prot from 
its associated company, i.e., Ghani Chemical Industries Limited. As a result, your Company managed to earn Rs. 
75.387 million as prot after tax, with an EPS of Rs. 1.446.

Financial result of your Company for the year ended June, 30, 2025 is as under: 



FUTURE PROSPECTS

One of the sister companies of your Company (Ghani Chemical Industries Limited) has been engaged in the trading of 
chemicals for more than 1.5 decades. By the grace of Almighty Allah, your Company has set up the import substitute 
Calcium Carbide (and its related products) project at Hattar Special Economic Zone. The project's commissioning is in 
progress under the supervision of Chinese and European experts. This milestone shall mark a signicant step towards 
the commercial operations of this rst-of-its-kind project in Pakistan. The state-of-the-art project has been built with 
modern technological standards. It is designed to meet both domestic and export market demands of Calcium 
Carbide (and its related products), which are key inputs in various industrial processes. Commercial operations are 
expected within the next few weeks. 

STATUTORY AUDITORS OF THE COMPANY 

The current auditors, M/S. Ilyas Saeed & Co., Chartered Accountants, will retire after the Annual General Meeting 
scheduled for 28 October 2025. As proposed by the Audit Committee, the Board of Directors has recommended the 
reappointment of the Company's auditors for the year ending June 30, 2026.
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LISTING AT PAKISTAN STOCK EXCHANGE

In compliance with the Demerger/Merger Scheme sanctioned by the Honourable Lahore High Court, vide its order 
dated February 20, 2025 in C.O. No. 65259 of 2024 and, after completion of relevant formalities and allotment of the 
Company's shares to the shareholders of Ghani Chemical Industries Limited, your Company was listed at the Pakistan 
Stock Exchange (PSX) on April 24, 2025.

SHARE PRICE TREND

After listing on the PSX, the share price of your Company, initially priced at Rs. 10.00, rose as high as Rs. 11.10 on 
May 22, 2025, and fell as low as Rs. 5.35 on May 9, 2025, closing at Rs. 9.72 as of June 30, 2025. As on the report 
date, share price of your Company close at Rs. 19.97.

Particulars 

Gross Sales 

Net sales 

Gross prot 

Administrative expenses
 

Other Income
 

Operating Loss
 

Share of Prot from Associated Company

 

Prot after taxation

 

Earnings per share

 

June 2025
 

Rupees

-

-

-

12,919,129

2,346

12,916,783

88,304,110

75,383,327

1.446

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

For better and safer performance, your Company needs to employ the best staff. To achieve this, in-house and 
outsourced training sessions are conducted. The staff's training needs are assessed through evaluations. Training 
sessions are organised based on the gaps identied in these evaluations. Safety training is also conducted through 
external providers, which have produced the best results so far. 
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

Your Company has adopted the requirements of the Code of Corporate Governance set out by the Pakistan Stock 
Exchange Limited (PSX) in its Rule Book, relevant for the year ending 30 June 2025, and has duly complied with them.

STAFF RETIREMENT BENEFIT

Ghani ChemWorld runs a funded, contributory Provident Fund Scheme (the Scheme) for its employees. Contributions 
are deducted from employees' salaries, and the Company also contributes an equal amount to the Fund every month. 
However, registration of the Scheme is in process.

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM

Your Company has emphasised a sound Internal Control System for the effective implementation and monitoring of 
internal controls.

STATUTORY PAYMENTS

There is no outstanding statutory payment payable other than those shown in the relevant Notes to the nancial 
statements.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 

A Statement of Compliance with Listed Companies (Code of Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019 is annexed.

CODE OF CONDUCT

The Board of Directors of your Company has adopted a Code of Conduct for its members and employees. All 
concerned parties are informed of these codes and are required to adhere to the rules of conduct in relation to 
customers, suppliers, and applicable regulations. 

CONTRIBUTION TO NATIONAL EXCHEQUER

During the year under review, your Company contributed Rs. 26.982 million in the form of taxes, duties, and levies 
paid to central and provincial governments, as well as local authorities.

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Board has established an Audit and Risk Management Committee. It consists of three members, including one 
independent and two non-executive directors. Names of members are as under:

HR&R AND COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

The Board has formed a Human Resources, Remuneration and Compensation (HRR&C) Committee. It consists of 
four members, including one independent, two non-executive, and one executive director. Names of members are as 
under:

The Audit Committee has its terms of reference, which were established by the Board of Directors in accordance with 
the guidelines provided in the Listed Companies (Code of Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019.

 

Name of Director 

Mr. Mahmood Ahmed

Haz Farooq Ahmad

Mrs. Rabia Atique

Designation in Committee 

Chairman

Member

Member

Category

Independent director

Non-Executive director

Non-Executive director
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Your Company is committed to establishing mutually benecial relationships with all stakeholders, the Pakistan Stock 
Exchange, SECP, bankers, employees, and all other business partners of the Company. Alhamdulillah, during the 
period under review, relations with all stakeholders remained cordial.

Total number of directors: 

The composition of the Board is as follows: 
i. Independent directors:            
                                                   

Mahmood Ahmad
Haz Imran Latif

                                                 
ii. Non-Executive directors:
         
                                                        
                                                        

      

Masroor Ahmad Khan 
Haz Farooq Ahmad
Rabia Atique
Saira Farooq

                                                 

iii. Executive directors:
                   

Atique Ahmad Khan

    Female directors: Rabia Atique
Saira Farooq

RELATIONS WITH STAKEHOLDERS 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors, which consists of seven (07) members, has the responsibility to independently and 
transparently monitor the performance of the Company and make strategic decisions to achieve sustainable growth in 
the Company's value. 

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board has formed a Nomination Committee. It consists of three members, including one executive, and two non-
executive director. Names of members are as under:

Description Number of Directors 

05 

02 
Male

Female 

Total 07 

Designation in Committee 

Haz Imran Lateef 
Atique Ahmad Khan

Haz Farooq Ahmad 

Mrs. Saira Farooq 

Chairman

Member 

Member
 Member 

Name of Director Category

Independent director

Executive director /CEO

Non- Executive director 

Non- Executive director 

Designation in Committee 

Masroor Ahmad Khan
 

Atique Ahmad Khan

Haz Farooq Ahmad 

Chairman

Member
 
Member

Name of Director Category

Non- Executive director 

Non- Executive director 

Executive director / CEO 

The Chairman of the Board of Directors is among the non-executive directors.

During the period under review, two (02) casual vacancies occurred. The process of lling up the casual vacancies 
was completed within the stipulated time period as per the Act. The details are provided as follows:-
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A written notice of the board meeting, together with working papers, was sent to the members seven days in advance.

BOARD EVALUATION

At Ghani ChemWorld, strict controls are in place to prevent any ground and air pollution. Air samples are checked 
regularly to ensure there is no pollution in and around the plant area. During the year under review, the Company 
adopted the latest version of the Environmental Management System ISO 14001:2015.

 

Sr. 
# 

Name of 
resigned  
Director  

Category  
Date of  

resignation  

Name of  
appointed 
Director  

Category  
 

Date of 
appointment  

1 
Mr. Umar  
Ahmad  

Non-
Executive  

24-02-25
Mr. Mahmood 
Ahmad  

Independent  
 

25-02-25

2 
Mr. 
Abdullah 
Ahmed  

Non
Executive  

Hafiz Imran 
Lateef  

Independent  
 

24-02-25 25-02-25

In accordance with the Code of Corporate Governance (CCG) and the Companies Act, 2017, the evaluation of the 
Board, its committees, and individual directors was carried out.

An independent external evaluator, M/s Javed Chaudhry & Co., Chartered Accountants, conducted the Board 
Evaluation.

SAFETY, HEALTH, ENVIRONMENT & QUALITY (SHEQ)

Your Company has implemented safety and environmental programmes at the plant site. The safety committees, 
established at plant locations, are performing exceptionally well. Regular meetings are held monthly to review safety 
performance, with corrective actions implemented as necessary. Regular “Weekly Safety Talks” are conducted 
across all sections of the plant to raise awareness and promote staff participation.

ENVIRONMENT MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

A total of four (04) meetings of the Board of Directors were held during the year ended 30 June 2025. A leave of 
absence was granted to the directors who were unable to attend some of the board meetings.

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

The remuneration of executive directors, including the CEO, is reviewed annually by the Board of Directors.

No remuneration, other than a Meeting Fee of Rs. 35,000 per meeting, is paid to non-executive and independent 
directors for attending board meetings.

During the year under review, the total remuneration paid to the Chief Executive Ofcer and Executive Director is 
disclosed in  of the Audited Financial Statements of the Company.Note No. 25

ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The present board of directors of your Company shall retire at the conclusion of the rst annual general meeting of the 
Company. The agenda item for the election of directors is included in the notice of the annual general meeting.

The chairman's review assesses the overall performance of the board and the effectiveness of its role in achieving 
the Company's objectives for the year ended June 30, 2025, in compliance with Section 192(4) of the Companies 
Act, 2017, and is annexed.

CHAIRMAN'S REVIEW
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES ON ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG)

The Board actively participates in and strongly endorses the Company's ESG initiatives. The Company aims to seamlessly 
integrate ESG considerations into its strategy. This promotes sustainable growth, mitigates risks, and fosters trust with 
stakeholders. The Company's strategic objectives include environmental sustainability, social responsibility, and effective 
governance. Key focus areas involve promoting diversity, ensuring employee well-being, and engaging with the community. 
Decision-making is guided by ethical conduct, openness, transparency, and prudent risk management.

GENDER, RACE & DIVERSITY

Your Company demonstrated a commitment to cultivating a culture of inclusivity and diversity, where everyone has the 
opportunity to thrive. GCWL recognized diversity as a crucial driver of innovation and competitiveness. The Company remain 
committed to continuing our efforts to create a workplace that reects the diversity of genders and races.

GCWL also actively promoted women's participation at all levels and provided equal opportunities for growth to 
everyone.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company has fully adhered to the best practices on transfer pricing as outlined in the listing regulations of the 
Pakistan Stock Exchange. The transactions with related parties were conducted at arm's-length prices, determined 
according to the comparable uncontrolled price method. During the year, the Company carried out transactions with 
its related parties.  Details of related party transactions are presented to the Audit Committee, and upon the Audit 
Committee's recommendation, they are presented to the Board of Directors for review and approval in accordance 
with regulatory requirements. Details of these transactions are disclosed in nancial statements attached therein 
(Note 23.1).

PATTERN OF SHAREHOLDING 

A pattern of shareholding as required under section 227(2) (f) of the Companies Act, 2017, is annexed. 

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

There were no material changes or commitments between the end of the nancial year and the date of this report that 
may affect the Company's nancial position, except that, following the setup of the import substitute manufacturing 
project, commissioning is underway under the supervision of Chinese and European experts.

EMPLOYEES' STOCK OPTION SCHEME

The Board of Directors of your Company has proposed implementing an Employees' Stock Option Scheme for its staff 
to encourage retention, foster a sense of ownership, enhance performance, and reward their services. The agenda 
item for the approval of this scheme by the shareholders of the Company is included in the notice of the AGM.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

The directors sincerely thank our valued stakeholders for their trust in the Company. We also wish to commend the 
dedication of the Company's employees to their professional duties and the cooperation of the bankers and 
government agencies, which have enabled the Company and its subsidiaries to achieve commendable performance 
in both operational and nancial areas.

Aside from safety, health, and environmental considerations, your Company emphasizes high-quality standards. 
During the year under review, your Company upgraded itself by adopting the latest version of the Quality Management 
System ISO 9001:2015.

QUALITY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM



On behalf of the Board

Lahore
04 October 2025 (Chief Executive Officer)                 (Director)
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We thank our shareholders who entrusted their condence in the management of the Company, the ofcials of the 
SECP, the Pakistan Stock Exchange, all government functionaries, as well as the commandments of Allah 
Subhanatallah and the Sunnah of our Prophet Muhammad (peace be upon him).

ATIQUE AHMAD KHAN                
 

HAFIZ FAROOQ AHMAD   
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12,919,129

2,346

12,916,783

88,304,110

75,383,327

1.446

 



FINANCIAL STATEMENT



42 Annual Report 2025Ghani ChemWorld Limited



43 Annual Report 2025Ghani ChemWorld Limited



44 Annual Report 2025Ghani ChemWorld Limited



45 Annual Report 2025Ghani ChemWorld Limited



46 Annual Report 2025Ghani ChemWorld Limited

GHANI CHEMWORLD LIMITED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT JUNE 30, 2025

2025

Note Rupees

ASSETS

NON CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 5 2,754,224,067           

Investment 6 1,123,819,533           

3,878,043,600           

CURRENT ASSETS

Stores, spares and loose tools 7 1,616,055                  

Stock-in-trade 8 512,138,691              

Loans and advances 9 255,519,585              

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 10 25,289,756                

Tax refunds due from the Government 11 10,206,793                

Advance income tax 12 161                            

Cash and bank balances 13 685,694                     

805,456,735              

TOTAL ASSETS 4,683,500,335           

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Share capital and reserves

Authorized share capital 14 3,600,000,000           

Issued, subscribed and paid up share capital 15 2,501,439,500           

Merger Reserve 943,739,525              

Accumulated profit SOCE 75,387,663                

3,520,566,688           

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Redeemable capital - Sukuk 16 750,000,000              

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Current portion of Sukuk 16 50,000,000                

Trade and other payables 17 341,300,771              

Accrued profit 18 21,632,876                

412,933,647              

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 4,683,500,335           

Contingencies and commitments 19

CHIEF EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

The annexed notes from 1 to 36 form an integral part of these financial statements.

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
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FOR THE PERIOD FROM JULY 31, 2024 TO JUNE 30, 2025

2025

Note Rupees

Sales -                             

Cost of sales -                             

Gross Profit -                             

Administrative and general expenses 20 (12,919,128)               

Other income 21 2,346                         

Operating(loss) (12,916,782)               

6 88,304,445                

 Profit before levy and taxation 75,387,663                

 Levy -                             

 Profit before taxation 75,387,663                

Taxation -                             

Profit after taxation 75,387,663                

 Other Comprehensive Income -                             

 Total Comprehensive Income                  75,387,663 

 Earnings per share - Basic and Diluted 22                             1.45 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

The annexed notes from 1 to 36 form an integral part of these financial statements.

GHANI CHEMWORLD LIMITED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

 Share of profit from Associated Company 

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
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Balance as on July 31, 2024                       -                      -                        -                         -   

50,000 shares issued @ Rs 10/-             500,000                    -                        -               500,000 

Scheme of Compromises, Arrangement 

2,500,939,500 943,739,525                       -     3,444,679,025 

Total comprehensive income -                   -                       75,387,663        75,387,663 

Balance as on June 30, 2025 2,501,439,500 943,739,525  75,387,663      3,520,566,688 

The annexed notes from 1 to 36 form an integral part of these financial statements.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE DIRECTORCHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

GHANI CHEMWORLD LIMITED

---------------------- Rupees -----------------------

Accumulated 

profit
TotalShare Capital

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE PERIOD FROM JULY 31, 2024 TO JUNE 30, 2025

Merger 

reserve

and Reconstruction for Demerger / 

Merger
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GHANI CHEMWORLD LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE PERIOD FROM JULY 31, 2024 TO JUNE 30, 2025

2025

Note Rupees

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit/(Loss) before levy and taxation 75,387,663                

Adjustments for non-cash charges and other items:

Share of profit from associated company (88,304,445)               

Depreciation 252,830                     

Accrued profit 21,632,876                

Profit before working capital changes 8,968,924                  

Cash flows from working capital changes:

Stores, spares and loose tools 186,705,933              

Stock-in-trade (202,518,865)             

Loan and advances 102,198,956              

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 175,421,055              

Advance income tax (161)                           

Tax refunds due from the government (10,206,793)               

251,600,125              

Increase / (decrease) in current liabilities:

Trade and other payables 236,513,987              

236,513,987              

497,083,037              

Income tax paid -                             

497,083,037              

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Capital work in progress expenditure (484,206,055)             

Share of profit from associated company -                             

Net cash used in investing activities (484,206,055)             

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Profit on sukuk paid during the period (12,691,287)               

Share issued during the period 500,000                     

Net cash used in financing activities (12,191,287)               

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 685,694                     

Cash and cash equivalents at  beginning of the period -                             

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 13 685,694                     

The annexed notes from 1 to 36 form an integral part of these financial statements.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Cash generated from operating activities

Cash generated from operations

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 THE COMPANY AND ITS OPERATIONS

Amount 

Rupees 

         2,270,270,842 

         1,035,515,088 

            188,321,988 

            309,619,826 

Loan and advances             357,718,541 

            200,710,811 

            100,000,000 

         4,462,157,096 

         2,500,939,500 

            943,739,525 

         3,444,679,025 

            800,000,000 

            204,786,784 

              12,691,287 

         4,462,157,096 

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1 Statement of Compliance

Contract liabilities- advances from customers

In consideration, GCWL received 70,000,000 ordinary shares of GCIL valued at Rs. 1,035.515 million,

which have been recorded under non-current investments. The difference of Rs. 943.74 million has been

recognized as Merger Reserve in equity.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and reporting

standards as applicable in Pakistan. The accounting and reporting standards applicable in Pakistan

comprise of:

GHANI CHEMWORLD LIMITED

FOR THE PERIOD FROM JULY 31, 2024 TO JUNE 30, 2025

Ghani ChemWorld Limited (the Company) was incorporated in Pakistan as a limited company under the

Companies Act, 2017, on 31 July 2024, with registration number 0265009. The principal line of business of

the company is to manufacture, produce, refine, process, formulate, acquire, convert, sell, distribute, buy,

import, export or otherwise deal in all types of chemicals, basic drugs, all types of acids etc. The registered

office and head office of the Company are situated at 10-N, Model Town Extension, Lahore whereas

production facility is situated at plot No. 13 to 24, Zones B3 & B4, Hattar Special Economic Zone, Dhorian

Chowk near Tanoli Filling Station, Hattar, District Haripur. The Company has not commenced its

commercial operations till the reporting date.

The Company is a subsidiary of Ghani Global Holdings Limited, which holds 139,952,994 ordinary shares

of the Company representing 55.949% of its paid-up capital as at reporting date.

Stock-in-trade

Pursuant to a Scheme of Arrangement and Reconstruction under Sections 279 to 282 of the Companies Act,

2017, duly sanctioned by the Honorable Lahore High Court on February 20, 2025, the Calcium Carbide

Division of Ghani Chemical Industries Limited (GCIL) was demerged and transferred to Ghani ChemWorld

Limited (GCWL) as a going concern.

Following assets, liabilities and accumulated surplus had been transferred to Ghani ChemWorld Limited

from Ghani Chemical Industries Limited  w.e.f. Feburary 20, 2025.

Description

Assets

Property, plant and equipment

Stores, spares and loose tools

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables

Short term investments

Liabilities

Share capital

Equity

Redeemable capital- Sukuk

Trade and other payables

Long term investments

Merger reserve
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-

-

-

2.2 Basis of measurement

2.3 Functional and presentation currency

2.4 Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments

3 STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS TO STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

3.1

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (Amendments) 01 January 2024

IAS 7 01 January 2024

IFRS 16

However, this adoption has no impact on the financial statements of the Company.

Standard or Interpretation

Amendments to IFRS 16 "Leases" - Clarification on how seller-

lessee subsequently measures sale and lease back transaction
01 January 2024

Where provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 differ from the IFRSs,

the provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 have been followed.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except as

otherwise stated in the respective notes of accounting policies below.

These financial statements are presented in Pakistani Rupee ("Rs.") which is the Company’s

functional and presentation currency. All financial information presented in Rupees has been

rounded off to the nearest rupee, unless otherwise stated.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on on-going basis. Revisions to accounting

estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised.

Significant areas requiring the use of management estimates in these financial statements relate to

the useful life of depreciable assets, provision for doubtful receivables, and provision for taxation.

However, assumptions and judgments made by management in the application of accounting

policies that have significant effect on the financial statements are not expected to result in material

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the next year.

Amendments to IAS 7 "Statement of Cash Flows" 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with approved accounting standards requires

the management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of

policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and

associated assumptions and judgments are based on historical experience and various other factors

that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the result of which form the basis of

making the judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent

from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) issued by the International Accounting

Standards Board (IASB) as notified under the Companies Act, 2017; and 

Islamic Financial Accounting Standards (IFASs) issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants

of Pakistan as notified under the Act; and

Provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017.

Standards, interpretations and amendments to approved accounting standards which

became effective during the year

The following standards, amendments, and interpretations are effective for the year ended June 30,

2025. These standards, amendments and interpretations are either irrelevant to the Company's

operations or are not expected to significantly impact the Company's financial statements other

than certain additional disclosures.

Effective date 

beginning on or 

after 
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3.2

IAS 21 01 January 2025

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 01 January 2026

IFRS 9 01 January 2026

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

IFRS S1

IFRS S2 Climate-Related Disclosures 01 January 2026

IFRS 1 First Time Adoption of IFRS

IFRIC 12 Service Concession 

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

IFRS 19 IFRS 19 'Subsidiaries Without Public Accountability: Disclosures'

4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

4.1 Cash and cash equivalents

4.2 Share Capital

4.3 Related party transactions and transfer pricing

There are certain amendments and interpertations to the accounting and reporting standards which

are mandatory for the Company's annual accounting period which began on July 1, 2024. However, 

these do not have any significant impact on the Company's financial statments except as disclosed

in the note to these financial statments.

'Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have

not been early adopted by the Company:

The Effects of changes in Foreign Exchange Rates 

Financial Instruments - Classification and Measurement of

Financial Instruments

Standards, amendments and interpretations to the published standards that may be relevant

but not yet effective and not early adopted by the Company

Ordinary shares are classified as equity and recognized at their face value. Incremental costs

directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, if any.

Transactions and contracts with the related parties are based on the policy that all transactions

between the Company and related parties are carried out at an arm’s length.

Other than the aforesaid amendments, the IASB has also issued the following standards which

have not been adopted locally by the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan:

The Company expects that the adoption of the above standards will have no material effect on the

Company's financial statements, in the period of initial application.

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of financial position at cost. For the

purposes of statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash in hand, balances

with banks on current and saving accounts.

The material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.

These financial statements are prepared under historical cost convention except for as stated in relevant

notes to the financial statement.

01 January 2026

General Requirements for Disclosure of Sustainability-related

Financial Information
01 January 2026

Standard or Interpretation

Effective date 

beginning on or 

after 
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4.4 Property, plant and equipment

4.5

4.6 Financial Instruments

4.6.1 Measurement of financial asset

Initial Measurement

The Company classifies its financial assets into following three categories:

. fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI);

. fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL); and

. amortized cost.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification, as follows:

Debt Investments at FVOCI

Equity Investments at FVOCI

A financial asset is initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly

attributable to its acquisition, except FVTPL which is measured at fair value.

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Changes in fair value are

recognized in other comprehensive income. Interest / markup income calculated using

the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are

recognized in the statement of profit or loss. On de-recognition, gains and losses

accumulated in other comprehensive income are reclassified to the statement of profit

or loss.

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Changes in fair value are

recognized in other comprehensive income and are never reclassified to the statement

of profit or loss. Dividends are recognized as income in the statement of profit or loss

unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by

comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment,

and are recognized net within “other income” in the statement of profit or loss.

Capital work in progress is transferred to the respective item of property, plant and equipment

when available for intended use.

Stock-in-Trade

Stock-in-trade is valued at lower of cost or its net realizable value, except stock in transit which is

stated at cost (invoice value) plus other charges incurred thereon till reporting date. Cost is

determined on the basis of weighted average cost method. Net realizable value is the estimated

selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated costs necessary to be incurred in

order to make a sale.

These are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any,

except for freehold land, which is carried at revalued amount, and capital work-in-progress, which

is carried at cost less any impairment. The cost of self constructed assets includes the cost of

materials, direct labour and any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to working

condition for their intended use. 

Depreciation is charged to statement of profit or loss using reducing balance method at the rates

specified in note 5 to the financial statements. The Company starts charging depreciation on

additions to property, plant and equipment from the date asset is avaiable for intended use till the

date of disposal. Assets residual values, useful lives and depreciation rates are reviewed, and

adjusted, if appropriate at each reporting date.
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Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets measured at amortized cost

Non-derivative financial assets

Derecognition

4.6.2 Measurement of Financial liabilities

Initial Measurement

Financial liabilities are classified in the following categories:

. fair value through profit or loss; and

. amortized cost

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as follows:

Fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at amortized cost

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including

any interest markup or dividend income, are recognized in the statement of profit or

loss.

Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured using the Effective

Interest Rate (EIR) method and are subject to impairment. Interest / markup income,

foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognized in the statement of

profit or loss.

All non-derivative financial assets are initially recognized on trade date i.e. date on

which the Company becomes party to the respective contractual provisions. Non-

derivative financial assets comprise loans and receivables that are financial assets with

fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in active markets and includes

trade debts, advances, other receivables and cash and cash equivalents.

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar

financial assets) is primarily derecognized (i.e., removed from the Company’s statement of

financial position) when the right to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or the

Company has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation

to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass–through’

arrangement; and either (a) the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of

the asset, or (b) the Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and

rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

The financial asset is also derecognized when there is significant modification in the terms of the

financial asset. 

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in the case of financial liabilities at

amortized cost, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held-

for-trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as being at fair

value through profit or loss. The Company has not designated any financial liability

upon recognition as being at fair value through profit or loss.

After initial recognition, other financial liabilities which are interest bearing are

subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Gain

and losses are recognized in statement of profit or loss, when the liabilities are

derecognized as well as through effective interest rate amortization process.
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Derecognition

4.6.3

4.6.4

.

.

4.7 Impairment of non-financial assets

Offsetting of Financial Asset and Financial Liability

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over

which the Company is exposed to credit risk. Loss allowances for financial assets measured at

amortized cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the assets. The gross carrying

amount of a financial asset is written off when the Company has no reasonable expectations of

recovering of a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. 

The Company individually makes an assessment with respect to the timing and amount write-off

based on whether there is a reasonable expectation of recovery. The Company expects no

significant recovery from the amount written off. However, financial assets that are written off

could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Company’s procedures

for recovery of amounts due.

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are assessed at each reporting date to ascertain

whether there is any indication of impairment. If such an indication exists, the asset's recoverable

amount is estimated to determine the extent of impairment loss, if any. An impairment loss is

recognized, as an expense in the statement of profit or loss. The recoverable amount is the higher

of an asset's fair value less cost to disposal and value in use. 

The Company derecognizes financial liabilities when and only when the Company’s obligations

are discharged, cancelled or expire.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the financial

statements only when the Company has currently legally enforceable right to set-off the recognized

amounts and the Company intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the assets and to settle

the liabilities simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events

and must be enforceable in normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or

winding up of the Company or the counter parties.

The Company recognizes loss allowance for Expected Credit Losses (ECLs) in respect of financial

assets measured at amortized cost. The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to

lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which are measured at 12-months ECLs:

debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

other debt securities and bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default

occurring over the expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased

significantly since initial recognition.

Loss allowances for receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. When

determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial

recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Company considers reasonable and supportable

information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both

quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Company’s historical

experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information.

The Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is

more than past due for a reasonable period of time. Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all

possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. 12-month ECLs are the

portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months after the

reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months). 

Impairment of financial assets
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4.8 Trade debts and other receivables

4.9 Trade and other payables

4.10 Revenue recognition

.

.

.

.

.

4.11 Taxation

4.11.1 Current tax

Provision of current tax is based on taxable income for the year determined in

accordance with the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001. The charge for current tax is

calculated using prevailing tax rates or tax rates expected to apply to the profit for the

period if enacted. The charge for current tax also includes adjustments, where

considered necessary, to provision for tax made in previous years arising from

assessments framed during the period for such years. Minimum taxes in excess of the

amount designated as income tax is recognized as levy falling under the

scope of IAS 37.

Revenue from sale of goods or rendering of services is recognised when performance

obligations are satisfied by transferring control (i.e. at the time when deliveries are

made or services are rendered) of a promised good or service to a customer, and

control either transfers over time or at a point in time. Revenue from sale of goods and

rendering of services is measured net of sales tax, returns and trade discounts.

Revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the company is

expected to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. For this

purpose, the company: 

identifies the contract with a customer; 

identifies the performance obligations in the contract; 

determines the transaction price which takes into account estimates of variable

consideration, if any, and the time value of money; 

allocates the transaction price to the separate performance obligations, if applicable, on

the basis of the relative stand-alone selling price of each distinct good or service to be

delivered; and 

recognizes revenue when or as each performance obligation is satisfied in a manner

that depicts the transfer of control of the goods or services promised to the customer.

Trade debts are carried at original invoice amount less an estimate made for doubtful receivables

based on review of outstanding amounts at the period end. Balances considered bad are written off

when identified. Other receivables are recognized at nominal amount which is fair value of the

consideration to be received in future.

Liabilities for trade and other amounts payable are carried at cost which is the fair value of the

consideration to be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the

Company.

An impairment loss is reversed if there is a change in the estimates used to determine the

recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying

amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation

or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized previously. Reversal of an impairment

loss is recognized immediately in the statement of profit or loss.

Value in use is ascertained through discounting of the estimated future cash flows using a pre tax

discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risk

specific to the assets for which the estimate of future cash flows have not been adjusted. For the

purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are

separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
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4.11.2 Deferred tax

4.11.3 Levy

4.12 Earnings per share

4.13 Provisions

4.14 Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is disclosed when: 

-

-

there is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be

confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future

events not wholly within the control of the Company; or

there is present obligation that arises from past events but it is not probable that an

outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the

obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient

reliability.

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a rate that reflects

current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The

unwinding of the discount is recognized as finance cost, if any. Where it is not probable that an

outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation or the

amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability, it is disclosed as contingent

liability.

Provisions are recognized in the statement of financial position when the Company has a legal or

constructive obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources

embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be

made to the extent of obligation. Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to

reflect the current best estimate.

The Company presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) for its ordinary shares. Basic

EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the

Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Diluted

EPS is determined by adjusting the profit and loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for the effects of all dilutive

potential ordinary shares.

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method for all temporary differences at the

reporting date between tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for

financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax asset is recognized for all deductible temporary differences and carry

forward of unused tax losses, if any, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit

will be available against which such temporary differences and tax losses can be

utilized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to

apply to the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax

rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax is charged or credited in the statement of profit or loss, except in the case

of items credited or charged to equity in which case it is included in equity. 

The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan (ICAP) has withdrawn the

Technical Release 27 regarding treatment of final taxes and issued guidance - "IAS 12

Application Guidance on Accounting for Minimum Taxes and Final Taxes". The said

guidance requires certain amounts of minimum tax and final tax to be classified

separately as a levy instead of current tax expense.
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4.15

4.16 Employee benefits - Defined contribution plan

Defined contribution plan

4.17 Foreign currency transactions

4.18 Investment in associated company

The Company operates a defined contributory Provident Fund Scheme for its permanent eligible

employees. Equal monthly contributions are made both by the Company and employees at the rate

of 8.33% of the gross salary to the Provident Fund. 

Finance cost

Finance cost is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the year in which it is incurred

When the Company's share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its

interest in the entity, the Company does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred

obligations or made payments on behalf of the Investee Company.

Associates are entities over which the Company has significant influence but not control, generally

represented by a shareholding of 20% or more but less than 50% of the voting rights. Significant

influence may also arise through common directorship or participation in financial and operating

policy decisions. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method, under which

the Company recognises its share of the associate’s profit or loss. Investments are initially recorded

at cost and adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the associate’s net assets. At each reporting

date, the Company assesses whether there is any indication of impairment and recognises a loss if

the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.

Foreign currency transactions are recorded in Pak Rupees using the exchange rates prevailing at

the date of transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated in Pak

Rupees at the rates of exchange prevailing at the reporting date. Exchange gains and losses are

taken to statement of profit or loss.
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2025

5.2 Capital work in progress Note Rupees

Plant & Machinery 5.2.1 2,455,639,104            

5.2.1 Movement in CWIP

Opening balance -                              

1,915,010,251            

Addition during the year 5.2.2 540,628,853               

Closing balance 2,455,639,104            

5.2.2

5.2.3

2025

6 INVESTMENT Note Rupees

Investment in Ghani Chemical Industries Limited 6.1 1,035,515,088            

Share of profit from associated company 88,304,445                 

1,123,819,533            

6.1

6.2

2025

Note Rupees in '000'

Total assets 16,243,174                 

Total liabilities 7,084,837                   

Net Assets 9,158,337                   

Company's share of net assets of associate 1,123,820                   

Total revenue 7,435,420                   

Total profit for the year 2,012,396                   

2025

7 Note Rupees

1,616,055                   

8

512,138,691               

9 LOANS AND ADVANCES 

Unsecured, considered good 

Advances to employees against expenses 9.1 903,721                      

Advances to suppliers and contractors 9.2 254,615,864               

255,519,585               

9.1

During the year, borrowing cost at the rates ranging from 13.35% to 22.06% per annum

amounting Rs.133.780 million has been included in the cost of plant and machinery.

The summarized financial information of the associates, based on the latest audited financial

statements for the year ended June 30, 2025, is as follows: 

Transfer under Scheme of Compromises, 

Arrangement and Reconstruction for Demerger / 

This amount represents costs capitalized related to the set up of Calcium Carbide project at

Hattar Special Economic Zone, Dhorian Chowk, near Tanoli Filling Station, Hattar, Haripur.

Investment in 70,000,000 equity shares of Ghani Chemical Industries Limited representing

12.271% shareholding,which is accounted for as an associate using the equity method. The

investment is made under a Scheme of Arrangement, Compromise, and Reconstruction for

demerger/merger, as approved by the Honourable Lahore High Court vide order dated February

20, 2025.

STORES, SPARES AND LOOSE TOOLS

General Stores

STOCK- IN - TRADE

Raw Material

This represents advances provided to employees to meet business expenses and are settled as and

when the expenses are incurred. These advances do not carry any interest or mark-up.
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9.2

2025

10 Note Rupees

Trade deposits 25,228,011                 

Prepayments 60,485                        

Bank profit receivable 1,260                          

25,289,756                 

11 TAX REFUNDS DUE FROM THE GOVERNMENT

Sales tax refundable 10,206,793                 

12 ADVANCE INCOME TAX

Advance income tax 161                             

13 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Cash-in-hand 186,694                      

Cash at banks on:

- current accounts -                              

- deposit accounts 499,000                      

499,000                      

685,694                      

13.1

2025

14 AUTHORIZED SHARE CAPITAL Note Rupees

260,000,000 ordinary shares of Rs. 10/- each 2,600,000,000            

10,000,000 partially redeemable shares of Rs. 100/- each 1,000,000,000            

3,600,000,000            

15 ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED AND PAID UP SHARE CAPITAL

500,000                      

2,500,939,500            

             2,501,439,500 

15.1

15.2 

2025

16 REDEEMABLE CAPITAL - SUKUK Note Rupees

Long term certificates - Sukuk 16.1                 800,000,000 

Current portion grouped under current liabilities                 (50,000,000)

                750,000,000 

16.1 

50,000 ordinary shares of Rs. 10/- each fully paid in cash

DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 

RECEIV ABLES

These carry profit ranging from 0.05% to 8% per annum.

Ghani Global Holdings Limited ( The holding Company) holds 55.949% shares in the company.

These represent advances to suppliers and contractors made in the normal course of business,

and include an amount of Rs. 206.054 million paid to Baig Construction Company against civil

works for the Hattar project. The advances are non-interest bearing and do not carry any mark-

up.

250,093,950 ordinary shares of Rs. 10/- each issued for

consideration other than cash i.e. Scheme of Compromises,

Arrangement and Reconstruction for Demerger / Merger

These Sukuks have been transferred under a Scheme of Compromise, Arrangement, and

Reconstruction for demerger/merger from Ghani Chemical Industries Limited (GCIL). 

The shareholders are entitled to receive dividend as declared from time to time and are entitled to

one vote per share at meeting of the company. All shares rank equally with regard to the

company's residual assets.
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2025

17 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES Note Rupees

Temporary book overdraft - unsecured 17.1                     7,821,283 

Trade creditors                   42,567,721 

Accrued liabilities                     5,271,594 

Payable to related party 17.2                 279,201,486 

Payable to employees' provident fund                        464,761 

Withholding income tax                     5,973,926 

                341,300,771 

17.1 

17.2 

2025

18 Note Rupees

                  21,632,876 

19 CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

There were no contingencies and commitments to report at 30 June 2025.

2025

20 ADMINISTRATIVE AND GENERAL EXPENSES Note Rupees

                         19,950 

                  11,919,004 

                       350,000 

                           3,440 

                         13,700 

                       252,830 

                       147,000 

                       210,000 

                           3,204 

                  12,919,128 

20.1

Audit fee                        200,000 

Sales tax                          10,000 

                       210,000 

21 OTHER INCOME

Profit on saving accounts                            2,346 

Fee and subscription

ACCRUED PROFIT

Profit Accrued on Sukuk Financing 

Internet expenses

BOD meeting fee

Photocopier expense

Stamps, forms and other legal documents

The Islamic certificates (Sukuk) are rated, privately placed, secured, long-term redeemable

capital instruments issued under Section 66 of the Companies Act, 2017 (pertaining to the issue

of securities and redeemable capital not based on interest). The Sukuks were issued for a period

of six years under an agreement dated December 13, 2022, to finance capital expenditure

requirements at the Hattar Industrial Estate, including expenditure on plant, machinery, spares,

and auxiliary equipment. Repayment of principal will commence 24 months after the final

disbursement date (i.e., January 16, 2024), and will be made in 16 consecutive quarterly

instalments. The Sukuks carry a profit rate of 3-month KIBOR plus 1.25%, with no floor or cap.

These instruments are secured against a first pari passu charge over the present and future fixed

assets of the Company, inclusive of a 25% margin.

Auditors' remuneration

Legal and professional expenses

Bank Charges

This temporary book overdraft has arisen due to issuance of cheques for amounts in excess of

balance in the bank account.

Auditors' remunertaion

Depreciation 

This amount is payable to Ghani Chemical Industries Limited (GCIL), an associated company. It

includes a markup of Rs. 5.252 million in accordance with Section 199 of the Companies Act,

2017, which governs arm’s length transactions with associated companies. 
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22 EARNINGS PER SHARE 2025

Profit for the year Rupees                   75,387,663 

Number                   52,124,357 

Rupees                              1.45 

22.1

23 TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

Relationship

Ghani Global Holdings Limited Parent Company

Ghani Gases (Private) Limited Common Directorship

Ghani Power (Private) Limited Common Directorship

Ghani Chemical Industries Limited Common Directorship

Ghani Global Glass Limited Common Directorship

Kilowatt Labs Technologies Limited Common Directorship

Ghani Logistics (Private) Limited (Formely A One Prefabs (Private) Limited) Common Directorship

A-One Batteries (Private) Limited Common Directorship

Ghani Global Foods (Private) Limited Common Directorship

Ghani Engineering (Private) Limited Common Directorship

Air Ghani (Private) Limited Common Directorship

Ghani Industrial Complex (Pvt.) Ltd. Common Directorship

Kaya Projects (Pvt.) Ltd. Common Directorship

Mr. Masroor Ahmad Khan Director

Mr. Atique Ahmad Khan Director

Hafiz Farooq Ahmad Director

Provident fund trust

23.1 Transactions and balances with related parties 2025

Company's Name Rupees

Associated Company

On account of:

Investment by GCIL in the Company 500,000                      

Return on payable to GCIL 5,252,444                   

Share of profit from Associated Company 88,304,445                 

Transfer of assets and liabilities under Scheme of Compromises, Arrangement and

Reconstruction for Demerger / Merger as approved by Honorable Lahore High Court dated

February 20, 2025.

Employees' Retirement Fund

Ghani Chemical Industries Limited (GCIL)

Related parties include the holding company, subsidiaries, associated companies, the Company’s

directors, key management personnel, and the staff retirement benefit fund. In the normal course of

business, the Company enters into transactions with these related parties. Details of related parties, their

relationships with the Company, and the nature of transactions, other than those already disclosed

elsewhere in these financial statements, are as follows:

Name of related party

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding

Earnings per share - basic and diluted (Rupees per share)

The Company has not issued any instrument carrying options which would have a dilutive

impact on earning per share when exercised therefore the earnings/(loss) per share and diluted

earings/(loss) per share remain the same.
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2025

Assets : Rupees

Property, plant and equipment 2,270,270,842            

Stores, spares and loose tools 188,321,988               

Stock-in-trade 309,619,826               

Loan and advances 357,718,541               

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 200,710,811               

Short term Investment 100,000,000               

Liabilities :

Redeemable capital - Sukuk 800,000,000               

Trade and other payables 204,786,784               

Accrued profit 12,691,287                 

23.2

2025

24 NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES Number

Number of employees at year end 105

Average number of employees during the year 104

25 REMUNERATION TO CHIEF EXECUTIVE, DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES

Executives

2025

Rupees

Remuneration paid 3,270,000                   

Medical allowance 130,800                      

Provident Fund 272,391                      

3,673,191                   

Number of persons 1

25.1

25.2

26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

2025

26.1 Financial instruments by category Rupees

Financial assets at amortized cost:

Investment 1,123,819,533            

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 25,229,271                 

Cash and bank balances 685,694                      

1,149,734,498            

Transactions with related parties are conducted at arm’s length and on market terms and

conditions

An Executive is defined as an employee, other than the chief executive and directors, whose

basic salary exceeds Rs. 1.2 million in a financial year.

The Company finances its operations through the mix of equity, debt and working capital management

with a view to maintain an appropriate mix between various sources of finance to minimize risk. The

overall risk management is carried out by the finance department under oversight of the Board of

Directors in line with the policies approved by the Board.

No remunertaion and/or allowance and/or benefit(s), whatsoever, are paid to the Directors and/or

Chief Executive Officer during the year. 
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2025

Financial liabilities at amortized cost: Rupees

Redeemable capital - Sukuk 800,000,000               

Trade and other payables 335,326,845               

Accrued profit 21,632,876                 

1,156,959,721            

26.2 Financial instruments and related disclosures

26.2.1 Credit risk and concentration of credit risk

2025

Financial assets Rupees

Investment 1,123,819,533            

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 25,229,271                 

Cash and bank balances 685,694                      

1,149,734,498            

Bank Agency Short term Long term

Soneri Bank PACRA A1+ AA-

The Bank of Khyber JCR-VIS A1 AA-

26.2.2 Liquidity risk

Rating

Deposits primarily represent trade deposits placed with suppliers. Since these deposits relate to

operational services availed by the Company, the management believes that no impairment

allowance is necessary in respect of these balances.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they

fall due. The Company's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will

always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed

conditions. For this purpose the Company has sufficient funds available to meet its liquidity

requirements. Further, liquidity position of the Company is closely monitored through budgets,

cash flow projections and comparison with actual results by the Board.

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks (credit risk, liquidity risk and

market risk). Risk measured and managed by the Company are explained below:

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the

Company’s risk management framework. The Board is responsible for developing and

monitoring the Company’s risk management policies.

Credit risk represents the accounting loss that would be recognized at the reporting date if

counter parties failed completely to perform as contracted. The maximum exposure to credit risk

at the reporting date is as follows:

Due to Company’s long standing relations with counterparties and after giving due consideration

to their financial standing, the management does not expect any non performance by these

counter parties on their obligations to the Company.

The credit quality of Company’s bank balances can be assessed with reference to external credit

ratings as follows:
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26.2.3 Market risk

i) Interest rate risk

Fixed rate instruments

The Company does not have any fixed rate instruments at the reporting date.

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

2025

Variable rate instruments Rupees

Redeemable capital - Sukuk 800,000,000               

Bank balances - saving accounts 499,000                      

800,499,000               

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

2025

Rupees

Increase of 100 basis points

Variable rate instruments 8,004,990                   

Decrease of 100 basis points

Variable rate instruments (8,004,990)                  

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will

fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

The Company does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value

through statement of profit or loss. Therefore, a change in profit / mark-up / interest rates at the

reporting date would not affect statement of profit or loss.

The sensitivity analysis prepared is not necessarily indicative of the effects on profit / loss and

the outstanding liabilities of the Company at the year end.

0.05% to 8%

Impact of 

Increase/(decrease)

A reasonably possible change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would

have impacted profit before tax for the year by amounts shown below. The analysis assumes that

all other variables, remain constant.

Effective rate (in %)

3 month KIBOR plus 1.25% p.a.

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates

and equity prices will affect the Company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial

instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk

exposures within acceptable parameters while optimizing returns.

Sensitivity to interest rate risk arises from mismatch of financial assets and financial liabilities

that mature or re-price in a given period. As at the reporting date the interest rate profile of the

Company’s interest bearing financial instruments was:

Carrying amount Contractual 

Cash flows

One year 

or less

One to two 

years

More than 

Two years

Redeemable capital - Sukuk 800,000,000                  800,000,000        50,000,000      200,000,000      550,000,000 

Trade and other payables 341,300,771                  341,300,771      341,300,771                       -                         -   

Accrued profit 21,632,876                    285,230,147      100,494,257        83,050,274      101,685,616 

1,162,933,647      1,426,530,918     491,795,028     283,050,274     651,685,616     

2025

The following are the contractual 

maturities of the financial liabilities:
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - Rupees - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
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ii) Currency risk 

iii) Equity price risk

27 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

28

29 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

2025

Note Rupees

Debt 16 800,000,000               

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (685,694)                     

Net Debt 799,314,306               

Total equity 3,520,566,688            

Total capital employed 4,319,880,994            

Gearing ratio 18.50%

The carrying amounts of all financial assets and liabilities reflected in the financial statements

approximate their fair values. The Company does not hold any instrument which could be included in

Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3.

Fair value is the price that would be received upon sale of an asset or paid upon transfer of a liability in an

orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Underlying the definition of fair

value is the presumption that the Company is a going concern and there is no intention or requirement to

curtail materially the scale of its operation or to undertake a transaction on adverse terms.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for establishment and over sight of the Company's risk

management framework. The executive management team is responsible for developing and monitoring

the Company’s risk management policies. The team regularly meets and any changes and compliance

issues are reported to the Board of Directors through management. The management oversees compliance

with the Company’s risk management policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk

management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Company.

The Company's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company's ability to continue as a

going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other

stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain

or adjust the capital structure, the Company may obtain / repay long term financing from / to financial

institutions.

- Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly or indirectly (level 2).

-   Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability (level 3).

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument, will

fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Foreign currency risk arises mainly where

receivables and payables exist due to foreign currency transactions. The Company is not exposed

to currency risk.

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

Trading and investing in equity securities give rise to equity price risk. The Company is not

exposed to any equity price risk.

IFRS 13, 'Fair Value Measurements' requires the Company to classify fair value measurements using a fair 

value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair

value hierarchy has the following levels:

- Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access

at the measurement date (level 1).
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30 SEGMENT REPORTING

These financial statements have been prepared on the basis of a single reportable segment.

31

32

                         -                          685,694 

                         -                   800,000,000 

                         -                     21,632,876 

                         -                              2,346 

33

34

35 CORRESPONDING FIGURES

36 DATE OF AUTHORIZATION FOR ISSUE

CHIEF EXECUTIVE DIRECTORCHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS OF ALL SHARES ISLAMIC INDEX

These financial statements were authorized for issue on ____________________ by the Board of

Directors of the Company.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Profit on deposit accounts

The Company maintains banking relationships exclusively with Islamic windows of conventional banks

and fully Shariah-compliant banks

EMPLOYEES PROVIDENT FUND TRUST

The Company is in the process of registering a Provident Fund for its employees in accordance with the

requirements of Section 218 of the Companies Act, 2017, which governs the establishment, management,

and investment of employee provident funds. As of the reporting date, the registration has not been

completed.

Non- Shariah 

arrangements

Shariah arrangements

Bank balances - deposit accounts

The following information has been disclosed in accordance with Paragraph 10 of Items VI and VII of

Part I of the Fourth Schedule to the Companies Act, 2017, relating to the All Shares Islamic Index.

2025

Redeemable capital - Sukuk

Accrued profit

Carried under

There were no adjusting events after financial position date.

SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS AND EVENTS AFFECTING COMPANY'S FINANCIAL

POSITION AND  PERFORMANCE

All significant transactions and events that have affected the Company's financial position and

performance during the year have been adequately disclosed in the notes to these financial statements.

These financial statements cover the period from July 31, 2024 to June 30, 2025. As this represents the

first year since incorporation of the Company. Therefore, no corresponding figures have been presented.

04-10-2025
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GHANI CHEMWORLD LIMITED
EMPLOYEES STOCK OPTION SCHEME, 2025

Ghani ChemWorld Limited (GCWL) was formed Pursuant to the Scheme of Arrangement (the “Scheme”) under which, 
complete business and undertaking of Calcium Carbide Project of Ghani Chemical Industries Limited (“GCIL”) has 
.been transferred with and into GCWL. The Scheme has been sanctioned by the Lahore High Court vide Order dated 
February 20, 2025.  GCWL hereby introduces a stock option scheme to be known as the Ghani ChemWorld Limited 
Employees Stock Option Scheme, 2025 for offer of stock options to its Eligible Employees in pursuant to the Section 
83A of the Companies Act, 2017 and Chapter VI – Employee Stock Option Scheme under the Companies (Further Issue 
of Shares) Regulations, 2020.

The purposes of the Scheme are:  
(i)  To improve Company's performance and thereby increase shareholders value;
 
(ii)  To increase productivity and share the rewards of success of the Company; 
 
(iii)  To reward the abilities and efforts of all such eligible employees of the Company, as
      considered t by the Compensation Committee;
 
(iv)  To attract and retain key employees; and 
 
(v)   To align the interests of such employees with those of the Company's shareholders.

Denitions and Interpretation

1.1.  In this Employees Stock Option Scheme  the words and expressions set out below shall have the meanings as 
specied against them:

1.1.1. 'Act' means the Companies Act, 2017;

1.1.2. ‘The Company' means Ghani ChemWorld Limited; 

1.1.3. 'The Board' means the Board of Directors, for the time being, of the Company acting at a meeting or through                                        
           a committee of Board of Directors;

1.1.4. 'Commission' means the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP); 

1.1.5. 'CDC' means Central Depository Company of Pakistan Limited 

1.1.6. 'Regulations' means the Companies (Further Issue of Shares) Regulations, 2020 [specically Chapter VI –     
           Employee Stock Option Scheme];

1.1.7. 'The Scheme' means the Ghani ChemWorld Limited Employees Stock Option Scheme, 2025 approved by the    
        Commission and introduced under the Chapter VI – Employee Stock Option Scheme under the Companies 
        (Further Issue of Shares) Regulations, 2020;

1.1.8. ‘The Compensation Committee’ or ‘CC’ means a Human Resource and Remuneration Compensation  
           Committee appointed by the Board. Subject to regulation 7(1)(ii), the initial CC shall comprise of the following  
           three non-executive 

Independent Director                     Chairman

Executive Director    Member

(a)

(b)

(c)   Member

Non-Executive Director    

st th
1.1.9. 'Financial Year' means the period starting from 1  July in a calendar year and ending on 30  June in the following 
          calendar year;

Annexure A 

(d)   Member

Non-Executive Director    

 



1.1.10. 'Shares' means fully paid up ordinary shares of Rs. 10/- each in the capital of the Company;

1.1.20. 'Date of Grant' means the date on which an Option is granted to an Eligible Employee in accordance with this  
            Scheme;

1.1.21. 'Option Holder' means an Eligible Employee or permitted successor/transferee of an Eligible  
            Employee holding an Option;

1.1.11. 'Allotment of Shares' means Shares that will be allotted in scrip-less form in the Central Depository System  
            (CDS) of CDC to an Option Holder in accordance with clause 4.6;

1.1.12. 'ESOS Account' means the book account opened by the Company in the name of each Eligible Employee to  
            facilitate Cashless Exercise of Options;

1.1.13. 'Option' means a right granted to an Eligible Employee to subscribe for Shares at the Option Price, pursuant  
            to the Scheme;

1.1.14. 'Date of Approval' means the date on which the Shareholders of the Company approves the Scheme in  
            accordance with the requirements of Section 83A of the Companies Act, 2017 and the Regulations;

1.1.15. 'Employment' means employment by the Company of an Eligible Employee;

1.1.16. 'Eligible Employee' means:
            a) A regular employee (including contractual) who is on payroll of the Company working in Pakistan or  
                        outside Pakistan and who is admitted to the Scheme by the Board; or
            b) An Executive Director who is on the payroll of the Company; or
            c)        A Chief Executive Ofcer who is on the payroll of the Company; or
            d)        A Company Secretary and a Chief Financial Ofcer of the Company

1.1.17. ‘'Entitlement Criteria' means criteria that will be determined or laid down from time to time by the  
              Compensation Committee based on, inter alia, the following factors:
              a) Competitive pay levels;
              b) Level of responsibility;
              c) Performance; and
              d)       No. of years of Service.

th1.1.18. 'Date of Entitlement' means the 30  of June of each calendar year, or any other date decided by the  
th            Compensation Committee. First entitlement date will be 30  June 2025 or later date as decided by the  

            Compensation Committee;

1.1.20. 'Entitlement Pool' means the total number of Shares available for being made the subject of Options, as  
           determined by the Board from time to time, which shall not, at any time, exceed fteen percent (25%) of the paid- 
           up capital of the Company (as increased from time to time). As on June 30, 2025 paid up capital of the Company  
           is Rs. 2,501,439,500 /- divided into 250,143,950 shares of Rs.10/- each and accordingly today the Entitlement  
           Pool is 62,535,988 Shares. However, it is claried that until such point in time that the number of Shares issued  
          under the Scheme equal twenty percent (25 %) of the paid-up capital of the Company, the balance Entitlement  
          Pool shall be calculated taking into account any increase(s) in the paid up capital. However, once the number of  
          Shares. 

1.1.22. 'Option Notice' means the notice given by an Eligible Employee to the Company for the exercise of  
            Option held;

1.1.23. 'Option Price' means the subscription price for a Share comprised in any Option which, unless otherwise   
            determined by the Compensation Committee, shall be weighted average of the closing market price of the  
            Share of the Company at the Karachi Stock Exchange Limited for the last 90 consecutive calendar days  
            immediately preceding the Date of Grant of the relevant Option. Provided that it shall not in any case be  
            less than the face value of Rs.10.00 per share.Directors of the Company where Chairman is an Independent  
            Director:



1.1.24. 'Option Certicate' means a certicate issued to an Option Holder in accordance with clause 3.3 of the  
            Scheme;

1.1.25. 'Normal Anticipated Retirement Date' means 60 years of age or such other age at which an Eligible  
            Employee is required to retire by his contract of employment or as per rules and policy of the Company;

1.1.26. 'Retirement' means the ceasing of Employment of an Eligible Employee on attaining the Normal Anticipated  
             Retirement Date;

1.1.27.'Cashless Exercise' means the mechanism described in clause 4.5 whereby the Company may fund all or  
            part of the Option Price;

1.1.28.“Exercise Period” means a period of one (1) year from the expiry of the Minimum Period;

1.1.29. 'Share Entitlement' means that number of Shares for which an Option is granted to an Eligible Employee in  
            accordance with the Scheme, as stated in the Option Certicate relating to such Option; and

1.1.30. 'Minimum Period' means, for each Option or portion thereof, the period, as specied in clause 4.2, after  
            which the Option or portion thereof can be exercised by the Option Holder.

1.1.31. 'Stock Exchange' means Pakistan Stock Exchange Limited where Company's Shares are listed;

1.1.32. In the Scheme, unless the context otherwise requires, words denoting the singular number shall include the  
            plural number and words denoting the masculine gender shall include the feminine gender.

1.1.33. In the Scheme, unless the context otherwise requires, a reference to a regulation is to a regulation under the  
            Regulations, and a reference to a clause is to a clause of the Scheme.

1.1.34. A reference to any legislation or legislative provision includes any statutory modication or re-enactment of,  
            or legislative provision substituted for, and any subordinate legislation under, that legislative provision.

1.1.35. A reference to any agreement or document is to that agreement or document (and, where applicable, any of  
            its provisions) as stands amended, novated, restated or replaced at the relevant time.

1.1.36. A reference to any person includes that persons' executors, administrators, successors, permitted    
            transferees.

1.1.37. A reference to any person includes that persons' executors, administrators, successors, permitted    
            transferees.

2. Effectiveness and the Compensation Committee

2.1.  The Scheme shall come into force with effect from the Date of Approval.

2.2. The Compensation Committee shall be constituted in terms of this Scheme and the Rules and shall exercise  
       such powers as are stated herein and/or in the Rules to be exercised by the Compensation Committee.

3. Grant of Options

3.1. On or prior to the Date of Entitlement (and at least once in every Financial Year), the Compensation Committee  
      (CC) shall determine and recommend to the Board as to which Eligible Employees are entitled to grant of Options  
      for the Financial Year preceding the Date of Entitlement, and the proposed terms and conditions and quantum of  
      each Option. The CC shall, in determining the aforementioned entitlement, take into account the Entitlement  
      Criteria and undertake performance evaluation based on a system of ratings, competitive pay levels, level of  
      responsibility, number of years of service and information provided by the heads of department. 



3.2. Within 30 days of the Date of Entitlement, the Board, on recommendation of the CC, may in its discretion grant  
       the recommended Options to the recommended Eligible Employee in respect of the immediately preceding  
       Financial Year.

4.1. An Option or any portion thereof shall be exercised during the applicable Exercise Period, subject to expiry of the  
       relevant Minimum Period.

4.2. There shall be a minimum period of one year between the grant of option and vesting of option.  An employee shall  
       not have right to receive any dividend or to vote or in any manner enjoy the benets of a shareholder in respect of  
       option granted to him, till shares are issued to him on exercise of option.

3.3. In evidence of the Option granted to an Eligible Employee pursuant to Clause 3.2, the Company shall deliver an  
       Option Certicate to such Eligible Employee, stating therein the Entitlement of the Eligible Employee, the Date  
       of Grant, the Exercise Period, the Minimum Period and the Option Price. Each Option shall be personal to the  
       Eligible Employee to whom it is granted and, other than a transfer to the Eligible Employee's legal heirs on his  
       death, shall not be transferable, assignable or chargeable in any manner whatsoever. Any other purported  
       transfer, assignment, charge, disposal or dealing with the rights and interest of the Option Holder under the  
       Scheme or under an Option shall render such Option null void.

3.4. The aggregate number of the Shares for all Options to be granted under this Scheme to all Eligible Employees  
       shall not, at any time, exceed the Entitlement Pool.

3.5. The aggregate number of the Shares for all Options to be granted under the Scheme to any single Eligible  
       Employee shall not, at any time, exceed ten percent (10%) of the paid-up capital of the Company (as increased  
       from time to time). Provided that the grant of Options to Eligible Employee in any one calendar year exceeding  
       one percent (1%) of the paid-up capital of the Company (as increased from time to time but excluding  
       outstanding conversions) shall require the approval of the shareholders of the Company under regulation 

3.6. Options shall be granted to an Eligible Employee specied in Clause 1.1.16.

3.7. An Eligible Employee who is on long leave (i.e. leave in excess of the normal leave requirements provided in   
       the terms and conditions of employment) may also become entitled to such Options as may be determined by  
       the CC in its discretion from time to time.

4. Exercise of Options 

4.1. An Option or any portion thereof shall be exercised during the applicable Exercise Period, subject to expiry of the  
       relevant Minimum Period.

4.3. An Option may be exercised in full or in part, from time to time within the applicable Exercise Period (subject to  
       expiry of the relevant Minimum Period).

4.4. In order to exercise an Option in whole or in part, the Option Holder must, after expiry of the relevant Minimum  
      Period and prior to expiry of the relevant Exercise Period, deliver to the Secretary of the Company an Option Notice in  
      writing specifying the number of Shares in respect of which the Option is being exercised, and deliver a copy of such  
      Option Notice along with the Option Certicate. Payment for the Option Price relating to the Option or part thereof  
      being exercised must also be made to the CC, in readily available funds accompanying the Option Notice and/or, in  
     case Clause 4.5 is applicable, by the Option Holder opting for the Cashless Exercise of Option there under. The date of  
     delivery of the Option Notice to the Company shall constitute, for all purposes, the date of exercise of such Option.  
     Each Option Notice shall be given only in such form, and shall be subject to such other requirements and modalities,  
     as the Company may from time to time prescribe.



4.5. Under the Cashless System of exercise of Option, the Company may, in its discretion, fund by way of an interest  
       free advance, up to the entire amount of the relevant Option Price, to the Eligible Employees that come within the  
       scope of the proviso to Section 86 (2) of the Act, The CC may, within ten working days of receipt of an Option Notice  
       opting for a Cashless Exercise under this Clause 4.5, (in its discretion) either refuse the funding of such Option or  
       make payment (by debiting the ESOS Account of such Eligible Employee) of the relevant portion of Option Price in  
       respect of which such Eligible Employee has opted for Cashless Exercise under this Clause 4.5 (as specied in the  
       Option Notice).

4.6. As soon as practicable and in any event not more than thirty days after the later to occur of receipt by the Company  
      of each Option Notice and the payment of the applicable Option Price, the Shares in respect of which the Option has  
      been exercised shall be allotted by the Company to the Eligible Employee. Employees exercising the option must  
      have account in CDC and the Shares shall be directly credited through book entries into the respective Central  
      Depository System (CDS) accounts of allottees maintained with the CDC and the name of such Eligible Employee  
      shall be entered in the register of members of the Company in respect of the Shares so allotted. The Option Holders,  
      therefore, must have a CDS Account at the time of exercising the Option. Provided, however, in case the Eligible  
      Employee has opted for a Cashless Exercise under Clause 4.5 in respect of all or part of such Option Price, the  
      Company shall have a lien on the Shares allotted there under up to the amounts advanced by the Company under  
     Clause 4.5, and the Company shall be entitled to sell such number of Shares as are required to repay such amounts  
     and reduce the debit balance in such Eligible Employee's ESOS Account to nil.

4.7. No Option Holder shall have any right to receive any sort of dividend or to vote in any manner or enjoy the benets of  
     a shareholder in respect of any Option granted to him until Shares are actually issued to him on exercise of the Option  
    (and thereafter such rights shall be limited only to the extent of the Shares issued to him).

4.8. There is no lock-in period for any Shares allotted and issued to an Option Holder on exercise of his Option, i.e. an  
       Option Holder shall be free to sell or otherwise dispose of his Shares (subject to the provisions of Clause 4.5, if  
       applicable). Please refer to Annexure-A – Time Schedule [and mechanism] of the Scheme.

5. Lapse of Options

5.1. The unexercised portion of an Option shall lapse at the completion of the relevant Exercise Period.

5.2. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, upon an Option Holder ceasing to be in Employment for  
       any reason (including termination of employment for misconduct) other than Retirement or death or permanent  
       incapacity, only such Options or portion thereof held by him for which the Minimum Period has expired on or prior to  
       the date of termination / resignation shall remain valid and all other Options or portions of Options shall immediately 
       lapse thereafter. The Options or portions thereof that remain valid under this Clause 5.2 may be exercised any time  
       up till the expiry of applicable Exercise Period or within the period of nine months from the date of termination/  
       resignation of the Option Holder, whichever is earlier, and the unexercised Options or portion thereof, if any, shall  
       lapse thereafter.  Provided, however, the Compensation Committee may, in its discretion, extend the permissible  
      period for exercise of the aforementioned Options beyond the aforementioned period but not, in any case, beyond  
      the Exercise Period relating to such Option. 

5.3. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, upon the Option Holder ceasing to be in Employment by  
       reason of Retirement or permanent incapacitation, all remaining Options held by him on the date of Retirement or  
       permanent incapacitation shall immediately vest in his name (irrespective of the applicable Minimum Period) and  
       will remain capable of exercise only up till the expiry of applicable Exercise Period or the period of twelve months  
       from the date of such Retirement / permanent incapacitation, whichever is earlier, and any unexercised portion of  
       the Option shall lapse thereafter.



5.4. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, upon the death of any Option Holder, all remaining  
       Options held by him on the date of death shall immediately vest in the name of his legal heirs (irrespective of the  
       applicable Minimum Periods) and will remain capable of exercise by such legal heirs only up till the expiry of the  
       applicable Exercise Period or the period of twelve months from the date of death, whichever is earlier, and any  
       unexercised portion of the Option shall lapse thereafter. Provided however that such legal heirs shall, prior to 
       exercise  of an Option, be required to show evidence to the Company's satisfaction that they are the only legal heirs  
       of the deceased Option Holder.

5.5. Upon the lapse of an Option, any outstanding Shares for which the Option was issued and not exercised may be  
       offered by the CC to other Eligible Employees and shall not be double-counted for the purposes of the Entitlement  
       Pool.

7.4. Without prejudice to the foregoing, the CC may from time to time modify the aforementioned policy or make other  
       suitable policies and system to ensure that there is no violation of insider trading provisions of Securities Act, 2015  
       and the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan Act, 1997 or the rules made under these laws.

5.5. Upon the lapse of an Option, any outstanding Shares for which the Option was issued and not exercised may be  
       offered by the CC to other Eligible Employees and shall not be double-counted for the purposes of the Entitlement  
       Pool.

6.  Calculation of Entitlement

The Board, on recommendation of the CC, shall determine the entitlement to Options of the Eligible Employees in a 
meeting to be held within 30 days of the Date of Entitlement.

7.  Compliance

7.1. The Scheme shall be administered and implemented in due compliance with law, including without limitation,  
       applicable provisions of the Act and the Regulations.

7.2. Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, the Board shall ensure compliance with regulation 7 of the  
       Regulations.

7.3. The policy and system for controlling insider trading shall be as follows:
       (a) the Company will ensure that each Eligible Employee is provided with a copy of the Scheme prior to grant of any  
       Option;
       (b) while granting any Option to an Eligible Employee, he/she will be cautioned in writing that all Options granted will  
        lapse forthwith if the Eligible Employee is found guilty of insider trading;
       (c)  the Company will provide the Eligible Employee, prior to grant of any Option, with copies of the relevant sections  
       of law (including any up-dates or amendments thereto) dealing with the prohibition against insider trading;
       (d) all trades of the Company's securities by all Option Holders must be reported within ve (5) working days to the  
       Company Secretary of the Company;
      (e) An Eligible Employee shall neither disclose any inside information to any other person nor make  
       recommendations nor express opinion on the basis of inside information as to trading in the Company's  
       securities.

7.5. “Inside information” and “insider trading” shall have the same meaning as described thereto in the Act, 2015.

7.6. If any Option Holder is found involved in or suspected of insider trading, the Options granted to him but not yet  
       exercised shall be withdrawn.

8.  Expenses

Any expenses of the Company involved in any issue of Shares in the name of any Option Holder shall be payable by 
the Company.



9.2. The Board shall, at all times, keep available for issue such authorized and un-issued Shares as may be required to  
       meet the subsisting subscription rights of the Option Holders. 

9.3. The decision of the CC in any dispute or question relating to any Option shall be nal and conclusive, subject to the  
       written conrmation of the auditors of the Company whenever required in the determination of the break-up value or  
       fair value of the Shares for the purposes of this Scheme.

9.  General

9.1. Any notication or other notice in writing which the Company is required to give, or may desire to give, to any  
       Eligible Employee or Option Holder (or his legal representative, as the case may be) in pursuance of this Scheme  
       shall be sufciently given if delivered to him by hand or sent through post in prepaid cover addressed to the Eligible  
       Employee or Option Holder at the last address known to the Company as being his address. Any certicate,   
       notication or other notice in writing required to be given to the Company or the Secretary of the Company shall be  
       properly given if sent to or delivered to the registered ofce of the Company.

9.4. Participation in this Scheme by an Option Holder is a matter entirely separate from any gratuity, provident fund or  
       pension right or entitlement he may have and from his terms or conditions of Employment and participation in this  
       Scheme shall in no respects whatsoever affect in any way an Option Holder's other rights or entitlement or terms or  
       conditions of his Employment. In particular (but without limiting the generality of the foregoing words) any Option  
       Holder who leaves Employment shall not be entitled to any compensation for any loss of any right or benet or  
       prospective right or benet under this Scheme which he might have otherwise enjoyed whether such  
       compensation is claimed by way of damages for wrongful dismissal or breach of contract or by way of compensation  
       for loss of  

9.5. If a provision of this Scheme is or becomes illegal, invalid or unenforceable, that shall not affect the legality, validity  
       or enforceability of any other provision of this Scheme. ofce or otherwise howsoever.

9.6. In case of a conict between the provisions of this Scheme and the provisions of the Act or the Regulations (as the  
       case may be), the provisions of the Act or Regulations (as the case may be) shall prevail.

9.7. In approving this Scheme, the shareholders of the Company shall be deemed to be expressly permitting issuance,  
       from time to time, of Shares under or pursuant to the Options granted hereunder as shares other than right shares.

10.  Modications and Alterations:

10.1. The terms of this Scheme may at any time be modied or altered only in accordance with regulation 7(1)(viii) of  
         the Regulations.

10.2. Rights already vested in Option Holders' by the grant of Options cannot be retrospectively altered or modied to  
         the Option Holders' detriment by any alteration or modication to the Scheme.

11. Termination

11.1. The Board may at any time resolve to terminate this Scheme in which event no further or new Options shall be  
         granted, but the provisions of this Scheme shall in relation to Options then subsisting (i.e. options granted and not 
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